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THE PEOPLE'S TESTIVONY.
BENJAVIN SCHENEIDER, of 108 Essex Street, }
a witnese called on behalf of the People, being duly sworn,

testified Ae followe:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY VR. EDWARDS:

Q Schneider how old are you? A Twenty-five.

Q "And how long have you been in the Tombe? A Fifteen

monthe

Q@ Do vou remenmber when you were arrested? A I was arrest-
ed in 1918, the 1llth of May, 1814
BY THE COURT:
Q ™ell, you are not in the Tombs now, are you? A Ko,
iR,
Q How long have you been away from the Tombe? A BSince
that trouble on the nineteenth of June.
Q S0 that vyou were thirteen monthe in the Tombs, and two
\ ‘,
months in the other place o onfinement? A Yes
- o ~ '.
MR. EDWARDS:

Q. You are now at th ith Street Prieon, are

not
i
es, sir. >
Y And when were you trsnsferred there? A The nineteenth
X i ' C
1. Phis last June? A 1e9, 20

(i "Now, you have pled gnilty to a arime, haven't you? A Yan



Q And what orime wae that? A g Vanslaughter in the firet
degree.

Q  You pled guilty before Judge Davie, in the Suprem Courf?
A Yes, sir; . .

Q Have you ever teen convicted of any other crime? A No,

eir.

) That ie the only crime you‘tave ever committed? A Yes,
sir,

< Have ;ou been sentenced yet? ‘A  No,..sir.

Q During the fifteen morths that. you have béen in the
Tonbs, have you }:en coming over Q‘s ¢ the District Attorney?
A Yes, sir.

Q For how long? A Seven or eidht montha.

Qd And during that time you have given him certain informa-

tion, have you not? A YeR: BLTe e
"
Q "iich he has been investigating A Yes, air.
That was ir z,n;¢' on with »hat casesgs; 40 vo L"OLJECt7‘
ne w & ymicide rurder
Q@ Yes. A The ma , plea already, an he rest wase
Union affairs, of Union: L 318
Q Now, when did you firast see these two defendanie? ! I [
neen the out. four monthse
Wa hat when they wa ! . tted to the Tombal. .A
’!0'!1 E»

!
Anct you .were there #lresdy’ ' fen, 8ir. i
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Q PNow, what tier were you on there? A  The second.

Q And w&g&Jtier were they op?, A %ﬁe

Q Did you know the man named Firola?
I could point him out, but I don't know his
always get mixed up on those Italian names.

Q@ He isn't here to-day? A VNo, sir.
Q "hat cell did you occupy? A 210.

Q2 And that is on the second tier? A

Q And

what cell did Napolitano occupy
to me.
Q. 8117 K.Yes, 8ir.

Q+« ‘Do you know what cell Maestry was 1

was on .the other side, and Tdon't know &the

THE , OOURT:

Well, that will be concede

WR. PALVIERI: Yes, 'sir; there will'b

» T

BY EDTARDS , i
A Now, on the nir f Jun
it that your cell doors mere-opent
the-morning. -~
Ani. ie that what 1} , £0 TN
¥
Y Apd what did you d v cell

A I took my breakfast in

diphen? i St 8
' g

second.

Or

Ferone? A  Yesj |

name exactly. 1

Ve

-

nunbe

8, sir.

A The next cell

i, that it was 2057

e no

1mg?

door

you?

ide,

dispute about

clLOgK 1in

A Y 28 SLr.

In what sort of

and 'cthey pu:




in coffee or milk, and we take ther bowls inside.

Q@ And where is the cup?

Q@ That is, you keep the cup in the cell? A Yes, Bir, .

Q Tell, now, who wa

Rothman.

A The cup is inside the cell.

your cell mate at that tinme?

A abe

¢ And was he in ‘the cell on that morning? A Yes, sir.

Q Who took

And then . I wa

in your treakfast first, you or Rothman? A

8 going to sit down to eat the

breakfast, and I seen them three fellows. I‘Wig inside- in fthe
A cell, but i seen them coming over to my cell.
Q low,, was the door open or shut at the time? The
ate was open.
Q. Ae i unierstand, those are grated doors, that slide? A
Yes; and i1t wis open.
Q@ And about h;* wide is the doorway? A Aboutmthat wide;
(Illustrating).
i e . Aboutthree or four feet? A Yes, sir,
)
Q ‘A ich one o he ree men -1ii you first )
seen the three of them, btut this man grabbed me by the throat
( In tiCa:‘Lc‘ ";e:try) i
s Now, was ‘anythip. said before that? A They said, ‘“You

L

T'ag,

Abe Rothman, he blocked the gate (Illustrating).

He

want to let’ them in.

trating) and he says, "Leave that

you District Attorney's m

ato;,

r
-

an, you sgueeler."

his

ed the: witl

5

fellow alone.

Andi so thio
‘He didn't
hands (Illue-

" He 18 going down
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for sentence, on Tuesday. "hat 4o you [t .of him?" And he

gaid, "Well, we want to make sure of him before he goew down,

that Pistrict Attorney'a'rat".
5 :
| And then tht same felloﬁ'grhhhed thhman, and shoved him
away, nd they come‘riéht in {he cell, and he hit me here.. (In-
dicating) and I fell back on the bed, andi the three started

to kick and beat me.

2 "bat did Napolitano do? ‘A He kicked me with bis fopt

I

',nj hit me with hie hands. T 'felt the aiéning rizbt here. (In-
dicating the right side).
And Ate Rothman wae 4t the igor when ‘them thres fellows
fired the bo*is and cups Into tﬂg ;gll nk_.e.*
Q Who did that?t A  The zh;ec of  then. And ¥ %ell down on
the ted. And the keepers came in, and I was ungconscious.
<

Q ,And how long were vou unconscious? A T couldn't tell;

about a couple of minutes.

Q- And was anybody in your cell when you recevered con-
aclcusnees? A Yes; the Deputy Warden and the Keppeir Lfrom
the second. and third tier

G :
Q Did you see Keeper Strouse. there, that meorning? A Yes,

after, wher he tock one fellow -ou Afron the cell.

Q. How, What waz your coniition at that time? How did you
feel? A I feel 1 was all beat up---I feel very bad, and my
face is all swelled up and I was vleeding from mymouth, ani'my

back was cut frorw where I got hit.

.
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Q Ad héw were you dressed at that time? A A little

summer undershirt and pants.

~

Q And 1id anything bappen to the undershirt? A The wholel

shirt was torn off in pleces.

Q And did you 2o to a doctor that day? A Yes, they

v

took me down to the Warden's Oflice, and he sent for the doctor

right away.

R That doctor was that? A Dr. LicHenstein, of. the Tombs.
And he examined you, did he? A Yes. '
Q  And what was done with you? A Then they took me down

To the 54th Street-prison? A Yes.

F'®]

Did Rothman go up there too? ' A Yes, elr.

V' »

Q: Had thesge de¢fendants ever said anything to yom before:

thiis day? A Thev bothered me on the walk. 1 always laid in
2ell, because they always btothered pe, because I turned*
State's evidence, ani ther people don't like men lilke tbat. They

always bothered me.
MR.. PALVIERI: I ot jeci to that an ove to strike out the

ansver, =8 lrresponsive.

THE COURT: Yes. . S8trike it out.
EY THE COURT:

Q bii they ever assault you tefore that day? A- They.
ballei me games, but didn't assault me.

BY ¥R. EDVWARDS:
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8
.Who called you names? A The three' of tﬁem.

A )
Did you ever call them names? A No, sir.

O O O

Or strike them? A No, sir,

Q On this morning of the 19th of June, did you throw any {
. iy !‘
gups Oor dishes a4t them? A No, sir.
¥R. EDWARDS: He ie your witness.

CROSS EXAVINATION BY YR: PALYIERI
How long

Q /Do you know Napolitano, this young man here? A About

four months.

@ About four monthe i he Tomba?

THE COURT: No, he did not say. four monthas im the Tombs.
BY MR.. PALVIERI:

Q  Where? A In the Tombs.’

BY-T?? COURT:

"

Q WYell, you have not been in the .Tombs during the last

four months, have :ycu? A No, slr,
Q@ You have been out of the Tombs for the last two months,
haven't youtr A Yes, sir.

BEY MR, PALMIERI:

Q How'long have you been in the Tombs? A Thirtéen monthe

e

in the Tombs. -
Q Vell, you knew Napolitano in the Tombs? A Yes, &irx.

Q And for a period of four months? A No, eir. 1 bave

been out of the Tombs two months now.

Q Before that day 4id you and Napolitano ever have a fight



A Ne, pir.

Q Did
A No, sir.
3 Did

that day?

keepers be
) .No
yE thi al
i
Nev

A

you ever report Mr.

No, eir.

Q FNow, d4id you ever have occ

Napolitano to the keepers before|

arion 'to report him to the

i
A
*

ore that day? A 0, 811
, with reference ry, d4id you ore the day
eged sault, trouble wiih Waesatxry?
3 X . any fight ¢ L0y 17 A 2 L1
W " And you never reported him to the keepe v any alleg=

ed-assaults or

Q And

the keepers;

Q And

R (Queation

(Question repeated) A

vords? A No, sir,

That?

dii bef A

vyou have known Yr. YMaest

Q@ Well, did vou know Yaestry
A No, sir.
Q You met him in the Tombs,

Yes, sir.

BY MR.

PALNMIERI:

ave you any cause for reporting him to

tefore vou went to the Tombs?

the firat

+
e
=
W
-
be

too, for

Q2 Now, at the last trial, do you reibq:i:\iiiiifyiné as
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follows: : A

.
'

THE COURT: No, I will not allow any referénce to the last
trial, with this exception, that you bave a right to show thhﬁ
this witnéea, at any time or any place, made statements which
differ from the statemente he made here to-day. So thatk if o
you wish' to call his attention to any discrepancy in his tes-
¥imony, T will permit you to do it, or to any contradiction,
but ndt otherwise, and please confine yourself to the contra-
dalction, if any.

PALMIERI Yes, 8lr
BY. VR PALMIERI :

Q Did you state, during the last trial--- do you claim now
that you stated-at the last trial that Vr. VMaestry said to you,
when he came to your cell, "We have got to glve it o him be-
fore he .oes down for sentence." ?

THE COURT: I will excluie that, as immaterial, whether he
8aid that or not at the last trial. “éf, vou nﬂy.sbvx any con-
tradiction of this witness, if you desire to do &o0.
MR. PALMIERI: Well, the will read his :\"’.iel“:‘e on

the last trial.

BY MR. PALMIERI:

Q Eii.vou testify on the last trial as folloWws---

THE COURf: On that puriicuiar point you may read it, if
you say that he saiivanythinb different.

BY ¥R. PALMIERI:
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by ; ‘ Pal ', 11

Q Now, lieten to this: "Q (By Judgé Mulqueen) Now,.

Lf first tell us what Maestry did, if anything. A He came ov;?
| and he ‘eays---and he started to holler, and he said, 'We are ééﬁ'
ing to give it to this rat, this stool piledn.' Rat, you know,
' o Al R .

Q PFow, did you make that answer at the last trial? A Yes,

sir

Q@ PNow then, 3did you forget to say, at the lagh trial, "We
have to give 1t to this man hefore he soes down forxsentencel™
Did you forget to say that? eq

R Now, after the laest trial you remembered thims in your

cell, and you went over this evidence, and you remembéred that

}
| Vaestry said, "We have got to give it to him, before he goes
"
down for sentence?" A - 'Yes, 8ir,

Q And eo, on the second trial, you say 1t? You heard the
jury disagree in the last trial? A I forgot to show, the last
trial, the mark where I got cut here. (Indicating under the righ
eye.)

2 Now, you claim that, at the last trial, yQu forgot to

o . L s § - 2 Ao
tell the ‘jury that Maestry said, when he came to your cell, "We

have got to give it to him, before he joes down formsentence."?
.

THE COURT: Well, T will exclude thag. That is repetition.
BY VR. PALNWIERI:

Q And do vou rean to say that you didn't know whether

the jury dieagreéd or not? ' i )



¥R, EDFARDS: Objected

THE COURT: Exoiuded.
BY WR. PALMIERI:

Q'\lel; you know that
don't you? A Yesn.

3 'And, therefore, you

8,

everything that you forgoft

what 1 said before, in .the 1
Now, vour memorv
us everyt that happened:

X OhL, yes; I know you

g0t something else, didn't you? You 8z2id thatyou forgot to
& about the marks. You remember when I

tell the jury something abou
asked you, at the last trial

and you said you hadn't any?

swelled up, but I didn't sho

2 Do you remember that
£ A i
trial, and show the jury th
marks on .your face, angd vou

and you have a mark to show

the .right eye.)
Q And that's the mark

the last trial, and you say

‘to as imraterial.

are telling the truth. But you for-

‘*;

you are trying thie case over again

feel that you ought to remember

vhe last trial? ‘A I Just told

you are going to tell

8, Jjust the truth.

» tC Bhow the marke on your face
A No, I said my face was all
.

W the mark under my eye
I told you to stand up, at the last
\
marks, and you said vou had no
8ay your memory wae bad on that,

the jury now? A Yes.

jury. A Here. ‘(Indicating under

that you didn't show the jury at

that this mark existed bn the last

5 ;
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trial? A Yes, sair.

Q And when I asked you to show me the mark, you said that
you had none, and you #8ay now that you for¢ot it. ‘A VNow, you
didn't ask me about my face.

“P.‘EDWAPUSi Now, I ask mounaél to point out in the re-
cord whers that queiré, whe/{ he sa3id that there was no mark

on his face.

THE COURT Now, Mr, Palmieri, I told you ghat the only
uae you can make of any statemer nade by him at the last trial
18 to show thai differs om any tatement made by bhim to-
day, and ‘the best Ay to do that, legal way, is %0 point it

out in the record

VR. PALYIER] Well, if my learned friend will let me
have the record, I will ehow that he sald he had no marks on
his face. .

VYR, EDWARDS You may nave :hﬁ‘rccori-

THE COURT: And 1 gcuiA remind counsed that 1 ruled, at
last trial, that the injuries suffejfed by the complainant, in

themselves, would not amount to assault in the first degree.

1id charpe that; if these cups and bowls that were introduced

in evidence might, in the opinion of the jury, cause griwvous
b911ly harm, iF‘the‘;ury believed that they were capable of do-
ing grievéua ;odily harm, they might convict him, if all @he
opher eléments were present, of assault 1n-the second degree,

BY VMR. PALVIERI:
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Q Now, listen to this:

Are there any warks that you can

show?" And the Judge himself asked that question. "A I dcﬁft
know. May be on the back there is a mark from the bowh that I

ot in the back, and mayfbé it is healed up now." Did yoﬁ

make that answer to that juestion, hie Horor's question? . A

Yes, sir.

Q Now, listen to thies "Q- (By Yr. Palmieri) You have

no mark on your fesce to show where a bowl struck you? A No,

air. ™

Do yon remember that? A Yes.

N

Q Now, you are not

accustomdd to receive blowe on the

No, eir.

face very often, are you? A 5

~

Q And how d4id you come to forget to show that mark under

the eye to the jury on the last .trial? A Because Ishowed

the marks on my back, :nd I forgot to show i% on my eye.

Q@ Now, then, .ehow the jury that mark.

& (The witness

indicates to the jury a place under his right eye).

4

THE COURT: This is all a wastelof time, Vr. Palmieri.

fhere is but one issue here. ‘You admit that an assault was com-

mitted. Now, clients were

thé only question ia whether your

the aguressors or were not.

¥R. PALMIERI: But I want to show that this man is simply
magnifying his injuries, to win vour Honor's syrpathy.
THE

COURT: No, there is no question of sympathy whatever,

on the part of any one here. I think you have sone far enough

on this line.
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MR. PALVIERI: Very well, sir.

BY MR: PALMIERI:

Q Now, you have no marx on your other eye, have you? A

No, s&ir.

2 Q Nom,NZiE}/EZ’you call that mark under your eye?

VR. EDWARDS: 7 I oblject to that. He is asking him to.
characterize a mark on hie own face.
THE COURT: Tell, do vou mean how thHat mark was caused?
MR. PALYIERI: Yes, eir; if it is a mark,
BY ¥R. PALMIERI:
Q )0 you call that a mark? A Yep, sir.
Q What caused it under your eye? VA 1 don't know; I
couldn't tell you with what.
BY THE COURT:

Q You got that wound in this fight, you say? 4.  Yes, B8ira

BY ‘¥R. PALVMIERI:

2 Well, vou call it a wound, do you? A Yes, it was open,

that time, it was bleeding. The doctor saw it.

- » '

e7, iid you forgeét anything else to tell the jury on

the last trial that you want 'to tell this jurp? A T.didn't

'forset anything else.

Q Now, did you forget to tell the jury on the last trial
that, for mone}, you were hired by a Union to kill peéple? Pid
you tell ‘the jury that?

YR. EDWARDS: I object to that.. There is no such evidence
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e “in this case. "

“ ; THE COURT: Excluded. There is no evidence of that.

BY MR, PALVIERI:

Q You were“ﬁired by a Cloakmzkers' Union, weren't you? LJ‘

Yes.
@ !
Q. And you pled guilty to manslaughter in the first degee
: faor killing a man? A VYes. |

Q With what weapon? A With a revolver.

" Q And yvou killed that man by'ori.,rs. of your "nién,‘ iid you
not? A  No, sir.

Q By whose orders? A By order of"Joe the Greaser", -Joe
Rosensweig.

Q And so you were an assassin for hire; you killed people
on orders, for hire? .! It was for no hire. .1 didn't gqt no
money. I 414 1t beciuae this man was looking to kill me, and
"Joe the Greaser" care around and told me to kill him, and I
killed him.

Q And vou. killed him because "Joe the Grzaser" told you,
to kill him? A VYes.

Q ow, was that affair connected at 21l with the Maediry

-, affair? A No, I ;un;n know those people at all, and don't

kncw nothing about them.
MR. EDWARDS: We will concede that It was not.
BY VR. PALMIERI:

Q And vou have given no information about them, about these
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défendanta, to the‘Dintfiot Attorney? . A No, sir. Excuse mo;
I‘know one thing. When T wae walkin; around.the flaté; one
vf time, they were talking to "Rocks" Cornell, ani this "Rooke"

Cornell called me over and he saye---he said he wanted to find
9 : out. if the La éalle brofhers turned State's evidence, against:
him. And I passei around the tier and they were talking to
"Rockse" Cornell. He was on the first tier below, and he called
me over, and he said, "Now, listen. What have the La Salle
brothers ‘to say?" And I eald, "1 don't know. ‘I'ion‘t trun
them and they don't trust me." Ani he said, "I know the reas(m
You are a rat and they are rate:” And they were standing tullk-
ing to him, to Cornell, at that time, and s;nce that time “hey
were after me all the tire.
BY TRE COURT:
A How lon_ before the alleged assault was this fnslk with
Cornell? | A About three weeks.
BY WMR. PALMIERI:

"

2 Did you ever say a word about this on the lam

he A" I made my statement.
Q@ Will you answer that yes or no?
- L.
THE COURT: Well, I will exclude the question.

THE WITNESS: I made my statement.
THE CQURT: One morent, please. I will exclude 1it.
MR. PALMIERI: I respectfully except.

THE COURT: If you can show that he was asked any auchﬁ
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Question, and gave a different answer, 1 will allow 1t.

BY MR. PAL“_’IERI: ;

Q Didn't you volunteer this evif%nce?

THE COURT: No. The Court will rule that you brought out

) that response. Go on.

VR. PALVIERI: And T except. And I mdve tc strike out
all his evidence upon this point, upon the ground that this was
& volunteered statement of the witness.

THE COURT: The motion is denied.

WR: PALVIERI: And T except.

BY MR. PALVIERI:

Q  Now,. how far was the ie“eﬂiint Vaestiry from w

vere talking with "Rocke" Cornell? A Juest passing Hy.,They

vere standing talking on the flats, and I pasaed by

& You just passed by? ‘A Yes, sir.

r}\,:"".

his was in the Tombs? A Ye 31

f L Y 1LS Bpeakll no ( aXrt ¢ 103 A Tré
2

or alk? A fed,; 8irx
PALMIERI :
What corrodir was it? What tier was it? ‘A The secol
» A
&,
tier
Q. And you werxe walking op ihe second tier? A'Yen, oir.

Did vou speak to---did vou stop to listen %o what they

were saying? ‘'A No, they called me over.
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Q When you say "they' called you over, where were they?
A Thev were downstairs, with "Rocks" Cornell, ani they were

®

talking there.

O

9 Did anybody else call you o;ec except "Rocks" Cornell?
A RO 'aETs and they were standing there talking to him.
2 Who do you mean by "they"? A I meant to say he call-
ed me over.
2  And when you say they were standing, who are “they"?
A This fellow and the other one. (Indicating the two iefend
ants) and the other fellow in the Tonos.
BY THé%COURf:'
Q@ Do you mean Firola, the third alleged assailani
Yes, sir.

BY MR. PALMIERI:

o« Did vou volunteer this statement on h

ne % L
make it?
MR.' EDWARD to.
THE COU \
\
A TIwasn't asked a
BY VR.- RALVIE
Nov iy jou talk to Maestry en y« re talkling to
Cornell? A o B
Q Didwyou pay anything to Yaestryr, after you got throuvgh

talking to Cornslli A No, eir.

3 ‘
Q Did you e2y anything to Napolitano, after you got through
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Cornell? A.No, sir,

Q Or to Firola? A No, sir.

Q. Now, where were the La Salle Brothers at the time you '

had that talk with Rocks Cornell? A In 54th Street.

Q You weren:t in 54th Street, were you?

Q At that time? A No, I was in the Tonmbs

You were# in (he Tomba? A Yes, sir.

< And you weni us to believe that "Rocks"
%0 know from you what these people had said in 54t
you were in the Tombs A  No, He wanted to

trial-was going on,

thérs, and bhe wanted to know what they said.

|
dway two days before his trial.

" "ere they . in the  Torbs 1trzbgt time?
had € taken awayv juet the day befox |
PAT Y
) - n ";,‘l n
1 LA Py 1 assault? Yes, tl
! I la 3 1T 1§ S4ala, " 'V: At y OU

O 11N . L ‘\‘,ttfl |
<
Did vo NEL Y ikt witl iocka""?
iy i
Q@ - He simply alied you "District Attorney'

never called me that, only he called me that Ti

ad down from ihe late. He didn't call me thaf

m

tecause I was talking to the
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called me that name when he called me over and I refused to

give him ahy information from the La Salle brothera.

Q Did he call you anything else? A No, sir.

Q Did you at that time report this to the keeper? A'No,

Q You kept it to yourself for three weekas? A Yes, sir.

Because I didn't want to make trouble,
Q You are a pe?éeful fellow? A Well, I'm not looking for
any trouble. !
¢ 'And you say, after three're;n:, Maestry and two other
people came to your cell; and almost nalf killed you; is that
R BREY- A Yed; . sdk
Q2 Can yoﬁ show me the mark that you got on fthe Back there?

THE COURT: Well, what is the use of pgoing into these marks

Mr. Palmieri? Haven't Tgiven your clients the henefit of the
ruling that the injuries that he sufferei are not an lssue 1in

this case?

PALMIERT : will bow to your Honor's ruling
THE COURT: Well, he says he had a mark on the back. HNow,
whether it is a big or little mark is immaterial. You will
u?
admit that he showed a mark at the last trial’
MR. PALMIERT howed a mark which, .Iconteni, is three
years old, your Hemor, and he knows it better than 1 do.
s THE WITNESS: No, sir; T don't.

THE COURT: #ell, no one can tell that. Dr. Lichtenatein
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will testify to his injuries. I merely want to save time, and l
I wish to keep the issue clear before this jury. It is adiglittedq
;na that these men assaulted him, and, if they were not juatij_

fied, legally, why then they are guilty of assault in some de-

gree, and, if they were justified legally, they are suilty of

. no crime whatever. That is a simple issue, and 1 am not going

to take .three or four dayes to try it, this time.
BY MR. PALYIERI:
Now, you say that Maestry came and placed you on the

bed? K- YO, BiX,

Ani choked you? A Yee, eir.

£

And Napolitano kicked you? A Yes, dix.
"Q ‘And Firola punched you? A They put me down on the bed
B ;
and the three of them started in to beat me.
Q@ 'And when Strouse came you were nearly dead? A - Well, I

was laying there.

Did you see Strouse ¢ome in? A Yes, yee im ¢ome in
and thi ellow ¢Indicating the defendant Vaestry) wae just go-
ing to get out of the room when Strouse come in.

BY THE COURT:
Q Well, whichb one are ;.'o’\_)-:-g‘s-;xinb of now? A .-Maestry.

BY MR. PALMIERI

13

Q Who was puanching you; if any one, when Vr. Strouae came
in? ‘A The fellow with the fingex (Illustrating).

Q And he is »nt on trial now? A Np, sir

~
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And" that was Firola, was it not? A Yes, sir.

o

R Q And howmany blows did he give you? A I couldn't tell

you.
> * ¢
Q@ But you sre sure when Strouse came in, Firola was punch-
.f) ing you? A Well, I can't be sure that he was punching me, but

he was on my bed, on top of me.
Q Oh, he was on top of you, assaulting you, when Strouse zam

care in? A He was right on the top of me, and I was laying in

the bed, when Strouse came in.

\
Q Tith Firola on top of you? A Yes.

And didn't vou, at that time, when Strouse caweuiu,~~t
is it not a fact that no blows were etruck at all, no fight was:
going on when Yr. Strouse, the keeper, came in; isnit that so?

A 'Why wasn't there no fight? He was right on y bed, kicking
me. He was right on yop of me. I was léyanf Like unconscious,
and I couldn't say that. ' Y.L
¥, isn't it a fact that when Strouse came in you, with
your lega, were keeping Napolitano near you, with your:lege oross
ed about his lega? A I don't know that. ‘ .
you swear that you didn't have your legs crossed
= over Napolitano's lege? A I couldn't awear fto '(?I. rdon't
know
Q  You didn't go over this matter for the eecond trial, did
v r .

you, and so you don't remember that? A No, I don't remember

that.
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Q Now, 1is
Strouse came

¥R.
BY YR. PALMIERI:

<

A
your cell when Mr.

waan't theie.

PALVIERT:

2 Ia it not a fact that Mr. Maestry was

t-a fact that Maestry
v A What?

Stand up, Mr. Yaestry.

near the door

Strouse camre in? A 1didn't see him.

of

He

Q You 'didn't see ¥aestry? A T seen him, and then they
ran away.
Well, when you say they ran away, do you mean to say tha

Yaestry was not near vour cell door when

COURT:

EDWARDS®

Objected to.

Sus tained.

Strouce came ip? L |
iidn't see him when Strouse come in.
Well, .was Maestry assaulting you from the time the as-
‘sault tool plage until.Strouse came in? A Yes, -8ir.
Q Now, there is mno question about that? A No, sir.
You are LUV; about ti ;:7 A Yes, sir
Yaeatry was ti r man to get aho ( o1 v th
throat? A  Yes; sir
@ . And he was assaulting ou when Strouse .came in? A J
lon't ow i1f Stropyse secn it or not, but he was assaulting me
Q In other words, you don't know whether Strouse would
stand by you, by what you say, or not? i
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BY VR. PALYIERI:
Q ©Now, where was '“aestry when Strauss éamevin?‘ A ‘I don't
know; I didn't see him. T was laying on thé ﬂed.

A Q Well, then, after Maéatry got ahold of you by the throat
what else 3id he:do? A He hit me right in the chin (Illue-
trating) and I fell.iovn on the bed, and they started to hét,
the whole three of them hit me.

*ére you ever in the hospital on this case? A. 1 wesn't
inn the hospital on this case, no, but I was in the 5oepital--—

Q You were just about to say that you were in the hospital,
Luf not about this caze? A Yes, sir.
Q Before this océurrenc:, did vou know a iellow by the
name of "Redi-headed-Curran” in the Tombs? A No, sir.

Now, just try and think? A No, sir; [ don't know him.
VR. PALMIERI: ., Well, the Tombs book was brought here for

me, your Homor, and Theard it was here.

HE COURT Yell, you can use it with your own witnesses,
in your own caae. You have gone -far enough into your defense
with this witness:

VE. PALMIERI:  Well, ‘then, T will ask him this juestion:

"Q Were vou ever senténced to five dayes---A For peddling,
without a license---
THE COURT:. Strike out the'answer, Wait until the guestion

is asked you.

BY “R. PALMIERI: -
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Q Were you ever brought before thé Tarden of the City

s
i

Prison, upon the complaintnof two keepers, I think 1t was, for

shouting, hollerinh, calling other prisoners out of their nam

and after you were heard, and after the Keepers' complainte

were heard, were you sentenced to five days lost of privileges?

o

EDWARDS: ‘that

R, ‘I object to as' immaterial.
THE COURT: T will allow it. f
ITRE ZENRX VR. EUWAHUS' The guestion as to whether he did i
the act nlgﬁt be compe ty but not an accuaation
THE COURT Ve I will allow it.
BY MR. PAL”iVW'
'Te that a fact? A Yes, sir.

VR. PALMIBRI: That's all.

RE-DIRECT EXAWMINATION EY YR. EDWARDS:

A rell what w before the

A us a8 the casion of that hearing
®arden? A Eh?

Q (Question repeated) A 1 don't understand
BY THE COURT:

Q '*‘1‘,-ho* 1i4 it happen that you got the five days? Tell
ug all about it. That is what VYr. Edwards wants to know. A
Well, the fellows right next tc me wereé.calling o h fe;;ows
names, and the keeper just happened to pass by, and I had just

hollered up Jor a newspaper then, and the keeper says, "Now I've
20t you," and the Keeper .says he will make .a complaint against .

me.
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Q And is that the only complaint that was made against you?

A Yee, sir, : A

RE-CROSS. EXAVMINATION BY WR. PALMIERI:
Q Then the keeper was mistaken? A Yes, bhe wae mistaken.

~ ' Q And you didn't shout or holler? A 1T only hollered up fo|

a paper; that's all, for a newspaper.

THE COURT': Now,. that is all on that subject, Vr. Palmieril
Please go on with emwQUhj.o elee. " He hiz-uwuzﬁaned it, .and the
jury may coneider hie explanation, and give ‘it the wc1dhm they
considex 1L éntirviad Lo.

BY YR. PALVIERI]

Q Now, h;v;'*ou forgatten anything? A No, sir

Q@ Do you want to volunteer any more statements? A No,
Bir.

« Do you want to pay anything elsé? A Ro, sir.

o' Have you told us all? A Yes, as much ae I know.
BY YR. EDWARDS:

Since the first trial of this case, have yocu been to

the District Attorney's office, or had ary one talk to you abous

his case at all? .~ A No, sir.
— Q@ Have you seen the Leéiirb:y you gave on the first trial?
A .“0, 212
T ¥R. EDWARDS: That's all,
VR. PAL”. BY: Ok, may I ask one more juestion?

THE COURT: Yes, he may come back.
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: . ; ‘BEN'JAMI.N SCHNEIDE R, being fecalled, for fur-.-:
ther cfoea examination, testified as followa:
RE-CROSS EYAVINATION (Continued) B? ;R. PALVIERI:
Q ?ou and Rothman are in the 54th Street Priécn? A Yeo:g
- ‘ éir. |
Q@ Occupy the eame cell? ‘A No, sir.

BY THE. COURT :

@ But-you were in the same cell on the day in guesetion?
A LT 1 iifferent cel p there
PALMIER
€Ll you car ijown from 54th Sireet with him to-day?
A Yes
4 And .you meet hin EVEIQ day on the tler? A Yes, Bir..
2 And haven't you spoken to him a word about this caset?
ince the 12th of June? A No, seir.
ABRAHAY ROTEMAY , of 180 Oxrchard Street, a witneas
™ :
cialled on tehalf of the People, ycinb duly sworn, testified as
ollowe
DIRECT EXAMINATION EY VR. EDWARDS:

Q Rothman, how long have you cteen confined in prison? A

[ In the Tombs, eleven weeks.

" A

Q@ And rvhen were you transferred from the Tombs to 54th
Street? A The game dav of the troubtle we had in the Tombs.
Q The 18th of June? A Ye

atp
&, 81i.

Q@ Have you evér hbeen convicted of any crime? A No, sir.

L%

-
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Q Are you under any indictment now? A No, eir.
Q How long were you a cell mate in the Tombe, of Bennie

ider? A  About four or five weeke. R TR

@ Do you know these two delendamts? A  Yes, Bir.

w

here 1id you firet meet them? A On the same tier

R

Q
I wag. - : |

@ They were on the sare tier? A VYes

gir.

Q You'were on the second tiex? A VYee, eir.

Q Now, on the morning of the 19th of June, do you récullec?
what time vour ¢ell doors were opened for LT%TKf&ﬁt? A
:n minute 3T LeYr seven.,
Q' And what did you and Schneidex do? A We were just

in our milk, in the morninrg,

THE COURT: Well, just explain to the jury how you get

wilk? A At ten rinutes after seven, when .they open up

atea, we take our milk in, and erpty the milk infto the

nd then put the bowl qut rain.

 And the cups you keep alwaye in your cell? A Yep,
lways in the cell.

I'HE COURT: ave you those cupe and bowls here?

YR. EDWARDS: The vr(;:l?#q then bb[biie,.yduf Honor .

THE COURT: Then perhaps they had btetter be brought in so

the jury may see them; and

i

ee just what they are.

MR, PALYIERI: T will concede that they te put in evidence.

at any time.
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THE COURT: Gf on, ¥r. Edwards, then.

e ' BY VR. EDWARDS:

Q Vell, after you had taken in your bréakfabt, that morns .

ing, tell us what happened? A At ten minutes after seven, :
|
(o rhen the gates opened up, we took cur milk in, and put it in

the cup, and put the bowl out again.

Q Now, right there Iz that the sort of cup that you
have there? (Indica td Yig 4 UK ) A Yes, 8i1
BY THE COURT
) ch. o . piisoners has one of those cups or muge?
A YéB, 81Y.

EY VR. EDWARDS:

Q

towl)

your mil

A Yes »

And the bowl you have was just like this?

A Yes, 8l I‘ .

This is the kind of towl that you referred
k' in with? A. Yes, sir.
And this is the kind of

cup that you poured

S1Tr.

(They are marked People's Exhibites 1 and 2 for

tion. )

BY ¥R

2

EDWARDS:;

Now, on that morning d4did you see these two

(Indicating the defendants) A Yes, sir.

“
%

Well, where werelthey vhen you saw then?

the gate of our cell.

(Indicating &
to as taking
the milk into

identifica-

men here?

A Right by




Q Was anybody with them? A There were three of them,
and our gate was opened up wide.

8 hot AV Siiker br theh sy hayibitg¥ A egRs this
Frank here. (Inii;atjnﬁ “aestfy). .

Q Which Frank? A TFrank Vaestry. FHe salid, "You dirty

rat, you stool pJL”hH, you are a District Atiorney's man."™ And

I got up and I said, "What's the matter, Frank?" And he saild,
"Well he's a District Attornev's man. L wajl to give 1t to
him, this morning nd. 8o tarted to plea "bitf i daid,
"Please leave hi vLone, Frank. He 18 going away Tueaday, to
get his sentence" and Frank grabbed ahold of n 'y the neck

and throwed me out of the cell, ard then he grabbed ahold of

i e N TR TG
Schneider by the neck, and threw him on the bked, and the Otbyl

twogot right on top of hir and they wexe fixing them bowle at
him.
Q Now, where iid you see the bowls that they threw at him
first? A The other two had then
3 Which two? A Napolitano and the other fellow that isn't
here, They had the - crockery in their hands; these heére bowls
n ere firing the at hin
Q What did they do with them? A They threw ther at him.
They went wild. ‘ f : g '

Q + Wae that before or after he was thrown on the bed? A

ngore.

Q Tell, after Maestry threw him on the bed, what did the
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- other two do? 'A They got on top of him in the bed, kicking"~

him and hoofing him. (Illustrating)
Q Now, each of you has a cot there? A Yes, eif. o
Q One above the othex? A Yes, sir.
D ; Q>‘Likc ak sleepirg car? k Yes, sir.

<

Q Now, were both heds down at that time? A No, sir; the

b 1

top one wae shul wuy [t'a alwayes shut wur g, the other one

vas down

Q@ The lower lown? A. Yes ' And then Frank
8tood. this way outsid he gate, (Illu:strating) and he  said,
"Go on, give it:té him, kill bim. BHe's a District Attorney's
man. "

Q He stood outside ther, after he fhrew him on the bed?
A Yes 3 3

@ With his arms folded, as you LJVL’vL!HﬁTPatej? A TYes,
8ir ’

And how long did that laet? A Two or three minutes.
Q And what did Schneider do? A He was crying for help.
Well, what d4id he say? A He was hollering in XJewish,

Q Ani what happened tuen? A. The kespers came up.

Q Yhat keeper came up; 40 youzremember? A Freddy, the

» keeper from the first tier, ani Strouse, our own k2eper, and
then the Deput& Yarden came there. ' i

Q@ DNow, where were these two defeniants when Strouse came?
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" A_‘ They w;re in the céll, two of thert, but he was at the doof. .
SN lbqk;ng out“for the keepe;e to come. (Tﬁiicating Vaestry ).
‘ Q Both of these defendants were 15 the vell? A Yes.
No.- Frank Waé tpeu outeide in ihe corridor, and the other two
o ' was in the cell. He wae outside the door watching for the
keeper.
THE COURT: No, strike that out, as improper.
BY WR. EDTARDS:
And what happened aftsr that? A Then the keepers took
Benny. Schneider cut of the cell. He was all cut up, Tbey toék
him down
Q. Yell, what did they do with the other two men that wele
in the cell? A That's all. They disappeared.
Q ' Did you see Eenny Schneider after thé'men left him in

the bed? A Yes, he was on the bed.

his condition? A He was laying stretched

irecesed? A In his undershirt.
to
Did anything happen xfxmx that? A It was all tore,
and he was cut in the back, =2nd bie 1lip was all swelled up and he
- was cut under the eye. [(Indicating the righteye.)
Q Anything else? A And about two or three lumps on his

read.

BY. THE COURT:

‘Q Well, he had a pair of black eyes, did he? A Yes, sir.
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Q You know what a black-eye i8? A Yes, sir.

L]
Q Well, perhaps they hadn't turned black so soon, but they ‘..
were swollen eyes? A Yes, sir; I know what a black eye is.
I've seen them often.
(= BY VR. EDWARDS:

-~

Q2 And have you told ues now allthat you know about the
rmatter? A Yes, that's all,
CROSS EXAMINATION BY YR, PALVIERI:

Q Have you goné over this evidence since the last trial?
A Have I gone over this eviderce?

Q. Yes? A "No; eir.

Q Have you gone over -this evidernce since the last trial,

about keeping your hands that way? ’Illuatra}ing) A No, eir.

'Q Have you ever gesticulated in the Tonrbs, 26 that you coul
have your hands that way? A No, sir.
Q You haven't gone ovir this dramatic -attitude? A No, sir.
L8 " y

Q It ie natural with you? A No, I stopped them from going
in there.
Q And you have talked over thie matter with Bennie, haven't

you, since the 19th of June?- A No, I've got my own troubles.

"hy, I thou. bt you were' in the Tombs for your health,

L2

that you were not indicted? A I waesn't indicted.
' . Q What wae the charge against you?

MR. EDWARDS: I object .to the question,

THE COURT: Sustained. He was lawfully committed to the
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BY VR. PALVIERI:

Q Yon have

teen lawfully

A e . T

T g o

committed to the Tombs on some
' ] . ¥

: eriminal charge? A Yes. ?
- EY THE COURT: !
Q A Magistrate committed you there, did he?t A VYes, sir.
Q To await the action of the Grand Jury? A ' Yes, sir.
BY YR. PALVIFRI:
. \
? And you have been there how long? A Fleven weeke, I .
.ha"e bteen there.
EY THE COURT:
@ 'And you had been there about three weeks before this oc~-
currence? A It wac the elzventh week.
Q Tnen'ch have teen thete_;ince? A No, sir; 1 am up in
54th Street Court.
Q - But there 1s no charge pending against you now? A No,
sir.
¥ are kept as a witnese in this case? A Yes, 8ix.
¥R. PALVMIERI: Tell, I want to injuire whaf the charge is.
R I don't think this witness couli te kept without any charge.
< i
VYR, EDWARDS: Mv recollection is that the charge wae dle~

miseed, and he is being held as a witness in this case.

THE COURT:

VR. PALVMIERI:

He

ays he is held as a witness.

I understand that witnesses, with respect

to your Honor'sropinion, are kept in the House of Detention.
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. : . THE COURT: At times. But the witnesses in the case of

Charles Becker were kept in the 54th Street Prison, as witneljnu
and there was no evidence againet them, except their own: etutkﬁ,_
ik

¥

ments, and there was no charge against them, and they were kept

L | there as witnesses, with their consent, under an agreement with
the Court.
BY YR. PALMIERI: | ' 1

1

Q- Are you kept there as a witness in this case? A Yes,

sir.
i Q Eut not in any other case? A No, sir.
Q A;e you sure about that? A This cease that I am arrests
ed for?

EY THE COURT:

No. This case that you are testifying in now.. Your casey

le ended, vou say. ‘A Vuﬂ ir; it 1sn't ended yet L' walting.
; BY MR. PALVMIERI:
Q So that you expect, if you testify right agains he ae
men in. this case, for the District Atturney J O Apé ! di
charged in the other c¢case? A Certainly nof
Q And urisn.;uoa; circunmstances, ai ~ GrY ver
- to think of everything tha’ you could say in thig casel { _Ne

sir; tecause I'm telling the truth.
Q You never killed anykody, I supposet 4 HNo, ail

Q Do you remember upon this trial you just ewore thak, when

Yaestry came to the cell, he eaid, "Kill bhim give it to bim "7
i} 4 )
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You eay he said that? A VYes,. he said that.

- Q@ Did you say that on the last trial? A Yes, the same
thing. .
Q@  Do. vou rememter thiul1uestion and angwer:
"R (1y'Vr.'E1W¢ris:) Tell all ihat they eaid. Now, what
did these men say or do, either of ther or any of them? Did tiey
all shout together? A No, sir; this one (Indicatin. Maestry)

he hollered out "You rat, you are a District Attorney's man,"

1]

s
'

ot

and he was 'trying. to he cell to beat him up.Xt" Did

o

you forget to say that he said "Kill him" onthe last trial?
"
¥R, EDWARDS: I object toithe question,; because it refers
8dely to when Yaestry care to the cell door first, and he saye

he nade it after he had thrown him on the bed and the other

two' were beating him up.

WR. PALMIERI: Now, you have read. this evidence and
have r..Edwards, ‘and I claim pow that I am right. If you
} "Kill him" in any part o ] " 63¢ I o
I Yay tl ounsel dire
ve')
' L
) ) »t the las ofi
"Kill torney's ms : L oplgeon
{  Nom Y@l il this questio ‘ . Edwarde )
WE RN Ehpas A \ Bt

outside of g 4 [
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I begged;them to leave him alone. 1T eaxi, *He's going down .for.
sentence Tuesday. Leave hin alone.'

pr!

'Q. Well, what dii they say to that, or what did either dg;f
i

ther say? ' A They said, 'We have got to give it to him be-
fore he goes'back for sentence.'"
Now, d4id you Bay anything about Maestry saying "Kill him."?
A Vée,.f 8aid that.
Q Then d0 you ?eﬁn to 61y’1h4t when yon .said thau ”&CBFly
said, 'e've got to give it to him before he goés back for
gentence’ that then you claim you added that WMaestry said

"Kill him®, and that the stenographer forgot Lo take i1t down?

'R, EDWARD8: I object. The wi

v

e
s
—

)

-
o
S

I'HE COURT: T 'will sustain the objection » the question.
A [ERI If the District At t ) h
t.on the last trial, I i
) 1 € no diniesic
‘ I Do ycu ¢lair
i And T 4 n't make
[FRI Yell, T would 1ik y
1 y 51
HE™ COUR Wil will not rece}
t. PRLWIER 1 he purpese 0L contrmdi 1 im.
CiE GOURT u muset polint )0




WR. PALVMIERI: I have,

THE COURT: Then you reet, so far as that is concerned?

MR. PALVIERI: Yes, eir; and I of‘er in evidence his en-"
tire testimony on the last trial.
THE COURT: I will not receive it. The only purpose for i

which a reference has beern made to the last trial is to show

that the witnese made different statements from those that

he makes heve
f PALVIERI Yea, dr; ot that he withheld testimony at
the last trial

THE COURT: Well, it is for the Jjury to determine whether

there is a fon?raiicrion, or a variance, or whether he 4id or
15d not o estify.
AT ERI:
low, you say that Maestry came to the cell---
( r Now, you have gomne all over that. 1 will not
11 repeat that. Take wj eth aw. You can
r twenty four hour
RI Vex ell. T wil OT¢
eld, th is for you
1°ean our
: ' o S i
D¥ AR ( to that imprope ommen t of counsel.
IHE COURT: . jection sustained Jury will dis-
regard all comme: ' imeel on elthe

ward



have you any re-direct?

MR. EDWARDS: No, eir; and 1 want the eteriob-r'apt;er to take
these side remarks of ¥r. Palmieri down on the record. i

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. PALVIERI: Oh, may T agk a question of him as he stands
over there?

THE COURT: No; bring him vack here. Now, Mr. Paimieri
vou may dek hiw a question.
BY “R. PALVIERI:

Q@ -You are kept downstairs in the came cell where Eenny
Schneider ig, aren't you?

THE COURT: You mean in, the same pen?

MR, PALMIERT: Yes, eir.

A Yes
BV Wy PALV] I
rou haven't 8aid a word atout thie case to
y , this morning? A TNo,
ince this..thinz hapy € ( hat ar
“
;0ing to ‘say}
And that 1 as true as everything el e you have testi-
€g \eéere .
MR EDWARDE: t to. that ag argumentative.
HE OQURT )
A‘;.'i"f « PALMIERI

A

in the same cel ' he Jdafeandania
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were you? Or the same pen? A VNo, eir. They daresn't kaop‘

us together.

last part

THE COURT: Well, strike out the that answels |

MR. PALMIERI: That's all.

~-==0000000=~~
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PRED R L oK. PASSTE, ukeipes of the City Prisem, |
a witqesa called on.behalf'of the People, being duly sworn, tes-
tified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, EDWARDS:
- | Q ' ¥r. Faaaib,'you are a keeper in the City Prison, are i

you not? A Yes, sir.

Q How long'have you been a keeper? A Close on to eight .
years, between seven ;ni‘eibht years.
‘And on the 19th of June, what tier were you as&ignei
to? A T was assigned on the ueéorl tierx

Q And these defendants were prisoners on that tier, were~-

n't they? A Yes, 8ir. .
: Q And Napolitano wae in cell 211, was he rot?. A Yes, sir:
Q With Firola, Frank Firola? A Yes, sir.
3 And VWaestry was in 23057 A Yes, sir
Y "And nny Schneider and Abte Rothman were in 210! A Yes,
1ir.
Now, will you tell the jury as briefly as you can what

g, after you opened the cell doorsfor

treakfast? A Well, before the tell doors had been opened,

breakfast had been served to all the inmates on the tier, and
all the cell doors were npenei,.exse;t 203

Y Ther ware the cells opened? A About 7:15. And there
was some difficulty 5£ bryinQ to get cell 203 open, and, in work-

‘ i
1 ing on the lock to get that cell open, we heard a scream of



"Help", and just at that moment, I should judge, My assistant,
Mr. Strouse, who was with me, rushed to the scene, and 1 just.
about got the lock open when 1 rushed after him.
Q@ So he wag azhead of ycu? A Yes, gir; he arrived at
) the scene first?

Q ‘He got there first? A Yes, s8ir.

]

Q Now, when you came up to the cell, whom did you see
there? . A Well, of course it is hard to iistipbuish just .who
were there, mentioning the names.

BY THE COURT:
Did you see-into the cell, did you /,go into the cell? A
They had come out of the cell.

Q (Question repeated) A Oh; yes, T went into the cell.

Q And who was in it then? A Jobody outside of my'part—‘
ner, Yr. Strouse anl'??tneil;; and Vr. Rothman.

BY YR. EDWARDS:

] n ? Ny Y
JALT . < £ vV, S AhA
\ ANQ you care 1 rds t cell, any one
coming out ¢ the cell? A Quite a nurber were coming ot

there, were standing there.
i EY THE COURT:
1 Well, tell us what vou eaw. These are plain ]uestiéﬁe.
Donit you understini them? A Yes, sir.
Q Well, who was cominb out of “the cell? A To mention the

names?
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Q  Yes? A No, e8ir; I couldn't, because I was'a.ﬁew'man on |

that tier.

Q Did you see the defendants in that cell on that day? A

No, sir..

(- BY YR. EDWARDS:

< ' 7ell, 4id you see them going away from that cell? A

|
Yes, sir. \

@ Well, I asked yoﬁ whom you eaw leaving  the cell? A VYes,
' 1 sar the defendants leaving the cell. '
here were they? A On the tier.
Q@ Whexeaboutse? A Well, very cloee on to the cell.

o Which wdy were they going? A 7e had ordered them to
disperse, .the crowd.

ell, ‘T an talking of a time before you had an opportun=i

ity to give any orders, .and before you reached the cell.  When

you were (¢ vour way to: the cell, what 4did you see? A 11 asaw
Abe Rothman and Schneider in th ell.
ni whom 41i you see outslide of the cell, when you were

approaching the cell? A T saw almost all the innates of -the

L ) 5
Q. Well, you had to get through them, didn't you? A Yes,

8ir; to get to the cell.

Well, who did you see that you knew? ‘hose name you

D

could mention, leaving the =X vicinity of that cell? A 1 seen

the two defendants, and I seen Barrett, and I seen Thomas. y
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Q Did you see Firola? A I don't recollect seein‘g him.

TR

There were so many that 1 saw; it's hard for me to memorize &ll

s

. the names. Any amount of men I saw there. ~

Q That was before you reached the cell yourself? ‘A Yes,

A Q sir.

2 ' And was that befor cell, 2810, itself?

A Yes, sir, before I got to it.
And btefor ! ,iven any orders to anybody. to leave
.
\
luce. ‘thi ‘up ‘and ¥1 here this morning?

the exhibits) A

‘is the type of cup that every prisoner receives

| ' with hie milk or coffee, in the morning? A Yes, sir.

o

And thie btowl ie the type of bowl that is furnished fo

each prisoner with his focd in the morning? A Yes, aix.

And they are put out in the corridor as soon as the

& 15 o

Ani vou gather them up? A The trusties gather them up

o 2

and wash them up and they are ready for dinner then.

L UN

.J nBY uUD v HW'AFDF.

Q Did vou see any broken crockery thers then? A Yes, 81T,

, Q Where? A TIneide ani cuteide of 'the cell.

[ ' Q Andi how many articles would you sxy—were troken? A Two

‘bowls and two cups, I should judge.
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' Q Well, can you tell us where the parts of the cups were?

¥ v} A TInside of the cell, and a ¢061 leal of 1t cutside of the @ell

100.

4

Q And the parts of the bowl:, where were they? A lea;’:.

How large are those cells? A Tshould judge about six

| Q Vel 18 U ht feet wide or deep? A Bilaht feet
|
. 3
E leep, Y X i
|
:
t v Ty 01
} ;
£ 1 ot? \ !
! Ju half door? Vea.
half o he door is immovable, fixed? A Yas, wmir.
Q And the other half-slides into it? A No, B8 e
vhole door slides. It's run.on a track.
) '*;1‘ T1E 10 1L 4106 :J’.’ H," 17 EX ceLLB ( e
1 ¢ _? A » » 1 E B K © ? o § v 1n Lo B J o) €
tTackKe.
Yo € t loor revolve around? A No
iy J t pull 10r open. that way (1llustra 4."',:‘). She
- slides o heels.
) ut it must go some place? A It goes right on the inside

of the cell.

£

Q@ Now, let us understand. Let ue suppose this is the

cell (Indicating). 1f I open the.door of the cell, it musg go



.

L T

some place. A It goes on th

THE COURT:  Well, I cannot understand that, and I would

suggest that the jury see the

where the door goes to.

~

Q How wide ia the door?

Q On; then, that explain
is eix feet? A’ Ye: sir.

THE COURT: Now I unders
BY VR. EDWARDS

Q ow cell A - 0 B
A Ves; Xight next to each oth
side and 210 and 211 is on the

Q Well, is
south? A 'Yes, sir.

Q And 210 and 211 are on
Yes, 8ir.

Q@ 'And 205 is on the west

Q And to get from one to
be _one over? A About half

? How many cells 4o you

bath rooms and a utility court

Q  And the bath celle are

A Oh, they are much larger.

thke a bath. And then there i

It is a passageway where all ¢

L T A v Ml g

e inside of the cell, Judge.

door. There must be some Epace

A Three feet wide.
8 1t. And the width of the cell
3tand it.
are on one end of the tier, about?
er, and 205 is on the southwest

gouth eaet side.

that the tiers run north and

the cast side of the tier? A

ide of the tier? A Yes, sirxs

the other, wbat ig the dietance
a t..l'J.il», -T. should say.

3 W o ko i T R L
passy’ A You pass 1lve

about the same gize as the othe
They have a capacity of two, men to
8 a utility court, as we oall i%.

he plipes run through.
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Q Ani how wide ie that? A

feet wide.

~

2 And there would be two of thoze, one on each side?’ A .

Yes, sir.

Q@ On the east and west side of the tier? A Yés; there

is a bath cell on each side, and the utility ‘courtruns ‘right

through the center g, carrying the pipes

ct

ric wires, ete

? "Now., 4id vou

Benny :hnelder's condition when you

got into the celld & Ye

2

Q How was he dressed? A He was partly

ol

undresased; all he

had on

was an undershirt, and that was partly torn off.
Q@ And hie trousers were on, were they? A. Yes, sir.
< But the &rirrébirt Wae partly yorn off him? & VYes, six
v Wexre there any marke on him that you 55“? A. Well,
there were marke on his face. He was cut under the. eye, and
i ody looked as 1% 1t had 1 2lved very bad treatment. Lt
¥as8 red,. and ere were little -scratch tobout his body, but
nothing that I would consider very serious.
Did ‘you ;gu: At “aestry and Nepolitano? A Yes, sir,
¢ Did you rotice any injurieés upon them? A No, sir.
Q' Did you see Firola? A Yes, sir.
Q Did you see any injuries upon him? A No. sirs
Q Vhat was Schneider doing when you got into the cell? A |

Why, he was orying.
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'R Vgs. ¥here wae he in the cell? By the way, where-
abouts in the cell was he? A He was lying on the cot.

Q And where was Hothman in the ¢ell? A Right alongsidesss

- - : a ''Nor, vou have told us all that you know about this? . ‘A

VR. '-EDWARDS Yay we have the cup and bowl marked in

evidence, if vour Honor please? (Indicating People's Exhibite

1 1 2. for identification)
VR PALMTER] ~ Mo objection: hatever.
(They are admitted in evidence and. the cup ies marked Peo-

ple's Exhirit 1 in evidence anl the bowl is marked Peopile's

v DR ATRS . . a9
¥R. EDWARDS: That's all.
onrAce vy ' MAMTAY LV " VTR T .
CROSS :EXAVINATION EY “MR. PALMIFRI:
~ Ty N Vo at . +he o ) FfF Qabnaiidar nl Rothme ther
¢ Leén you got o ne cell O0I <Cnneller and notoman, niere
Fers a great many inmates in front of the door of these men,
- - A -
- . va i C il - ’ A w
About how many, woull you say? ‘A Oh, 1 should say
theyewere 2bout- twenty.

et ) And, in order 'to get into . that cell you bad t0o make your
‘way through those men? A T 4id, yes.

‘Q You were the first keeper to get there? AN sir.

(&)
~

Q Who was the first? A Mr., Strouse.

Q Vere you immediately behini Btrouse? A  Well, the dif-
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ference in time might have been a minute or so. 1 was working
on that lock, to try to get it open.

Q@ Well, were you behind Strouse as you entered? A Welljis

We may have been a little distance apart, getting the people’ to

step aside, 80 that could get to the scene.

Q Just about what distance nild you say? A Well, a die

i

,»ance Ol apon 1 Y r Ol C

Q An t 2 ] wa3 not thexe? 3P

Q 2 he cell? NO 8y Were
not in the cell

But  all the inmates on the tier were¢ congregated around

the door ‘of the cell? A. Yes, 8ir; ‘around the Joor where the

8cene had t#den place

VR. PALYIERI: -.That's dl.

(The Court a ished the jury:in e with Section
415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, and took a recess until
2 . o8 14
L T “ -

000N00Q ===




AR I o . , bl LR :
; ~ : y . 51 |
s it 2GR o 70 RECESBSS.

WR. EDWARDS: OCall in ¥r. Strouse.

WR. PALMIERI: 1f your Honor please, before Mr. Strouse
1s called; may 1 get the correct position of Mr. Maestry, at
- the time Yr. Strouse got there, from the lips of Rothman? ' As

-
.

understand 1t, I have omitted to ask Rothman that juestion.

THE COURT: You ¢an send for Rothman, and examine him,
after Mr. Strouse gzoes on the stand ]
VR. PALMIERI: - All right
G EOQO R G T J TROUGSE, a keeper in the City

Prison, a witness called on 'behalf of the People, being duly

sworn, testified‘as followe:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY YR. EDWARDS:
Q Yr.Strouse, how do you spell your name? A Befer—-0-1=-8

faat s . oA
Witness zpells).

Q r, Strouse, vou are s keeper in the City Prison, are
you not? A 1 e been in the Department about twenty yearo
1 ) nd 2 keéeper ow long? Twenty.
And how 1 yf that ti have vou spent in the Tomba
Prison, Mr. Strouse? A The last time I came there was a year
L az0, the first of last March.
Q Now, on the 18th of June, you were on the. second tier,

were you not? A VYes, sir,
Q Now, on that tier, ae I understarni it Frank Maestry oo~

cupied cell 23087 A Yes, seir. 3
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Q And John Napolitano, with Frank Firola, occupied cell

811 A Yes, sir.

R And Benny Sc¢hneider and Abraham Rothman occupied cell |
2107 A Yes, sir.
BY THE COURT:

<)

Q And that adjoins 311? A Yes, 8ir,

J

Q It is immediately adjoining? A Yes, 'sir
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q  Nov, on the morning of June 19th, ¥r. Strouse, at what

time did you open the cell doors for breaskfast? A Not more

than five or ten minutes after seven

Q And who wae opening the célls with you? A  VYr. Fagelg.]
) I understand you had some difficulty with a cell doox;
414 you not? A Yes, cell 203, It's on the southwest end of

the tier.

And all of these cells we have spoken of here are on

he south section? A Yes, sir
QA And 203 and 305 are on the west side of the south sec-
tion? A Yee, sir

Q And 210 and 211 are on the east side of the south sectiol

% And we might call that .the south half, might we not?
A Yeé, sir.
Q Ndn while you ahd Keeper Fascly were at work on the

door of cell 203, what happened? 'A We were trying to get the
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door opem, and Mr., Fassig said, "I'll go down to thei safe,

and get another key," and he did, and just then we got the
door open and Sam Walser came up just then and said---
Q No, you can't tell that.
VR. PAL"IFRI:_ Well, Idon't object to that. I don't object
to Vr. Strouse telling anything he deeires to.
BY THE COURT: ‘ _ y
Q Youeay that ‘some one :uii you something? A Yes, eirx;

thiat there was troutle in 210.

« And Fasaslg was. back at that time? A Yes, @ir,
Q@ And vou were both at 2037 A Yes, eir.

And then what iii you do? A I went aroundi on the south

O

E

side and Yr. Fassig turned and went théother way around. 1 got
to the cell five or six. secohds ahead of Him.

ot to 210 first? A  1Idid.

Q- And what did you see -when you 'got there? A I saw---when
I got to,the cell, &c ider w laying on his back on the cot,
vith his legs wrap ed arouni Fapolitano's legs, and VYaestry was
gtanding just in the door. Firola was about half way in the

cell, and Rothman was near the toilet.

Q And that ie in the back part of the cell, the part

furthest away from the door? A Vez, and I told the men to go
to their cells and fhfy went to their celies. And 1 saidrto

Schneider, "Are you .hurt?" And he didn't anawer me; he kept
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Qn‘yeliing, and T said to Fassig, "I'1l lock these men in" and

Yr. Cumminge come up, and had Schneider taken down to the first

14 tler.

Q@ Tho is Cummings? A He was acting in. the abeence of

o Vr. Han}ey and Mr. Brennan.
Q He was actin5'aa assistant warden? A ?e:, sir.
Q Now, what was C;LLeiier'ﬁ condition when you first
saw him in the cell? A Well, he had a scratch ¢n hie shoul=- ;
ler,.and his shirt was torn, and his face was marked. He had a"
ark on hisface.
Q fow, did vou lock Napolitano and Vaestry in their cells?
A Yes, Bir.
Q Did you observe any marks on them? A Napolitano said,
"W¥r. Strouse, he knocked ny toch loose," ani he took ahold of
his tooth that way ’IlLu;t:a:in;) and there was a bruise on hie
face, ‘
Did vou notice any marks on Maestry? A No, air
Q Or on Firola? A None that 1 saw.
Q Was there anything else that you noticed in.or about
the cell when you 30t there? A No.
- 2 Any orockery of any kjind? A Two cups was broke, and &
COWl. ;

Q Like exhibits 1 and 27 A Yes, sir.

Q And where was that broken crochery? A 'One was on tha

fj;ier. The cup laid on the inside of the cell near the door, the
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bowl was brbie'uhder the cot, partially.
Q Have you now told us all thgt you saw that morning? A
Ye@, sir.
YR.CEDWARDS: He i1s your witnees. Now, I want %o ask
you just one mors question.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

£

. Ag8 you go in the door of the cell, on which side is the
cot? A On the left hand eide as you go in.
There are two cots, are there not? A Yes, sir.

o How was the upper one? A The upper one wag chainrad

Up .«
@ That is, it was 'up against the wall? A Yes, sir.
Q And th: lower one was in position? A Yes, mir.
Q And the toilet was in Thichlcgrn\r of the cell? A in

the southwest. corner of the cell.

9 And that's where Rothman was? A Yes; 8
« T:: is the side of the cell furthest awa)

cot? Yesa, sir

CROSS EXAYINATION BY MR. PALMIERI:
Q. Just one moment, Vr, Strauss Was anyt

assaulting Eenny Cohne hen y enmered hia 50
¢ @
Q@ Were.any blows struck ! nybody when yo 34

oeLlLY
THE ’.‘,‘O.UH"" Do you mean aib i " entered h

bim Af he 8aw any one strike any one else.



BY VR. PALMIERI:

t : Q. There wa.no fight at that time? A No, sir; not one .

i blow struck after 1 got there.

, ] i 7 B
BY THE COURT:
> ‘ Q@ You did not see any people struck? A No, sir

BY VR, PALVIERI:

Q Now, in order to enter that cell, &« had you to maks

your way through a crowd of .inmates? A Well, there was only

them on this s8ide of the cell. (Illustrating) And i

few of Ng

pushed the way, and went into the ocell.

t_‘.' THE “}0!'}2‘1'

Q2 That is, there were only a few people betwesn you and

88, .8ir; about eight or ten.

" 4 5 ot 3 - - P ey x W e ¥ ¢ e
Q And the crowd that:-you speak of wze in Fassig's ' wayl
A ves, sir.
BY MR. PALMIERI:
A g ) .
AN avgou | i A &
1culd say in the neighborahood o ! bt iy I
2a.8 wenty~five hirty peopl

'HE COURT ¥ell, wait until the People re ¥ y
20 ing > ¢all -Dr: Lichtensteln, ¥r. Euiwards? I sea he is haed
MR. EDWARDS: Yea, sir.

o LIGCHTENBTEIN M. D.

WiLnes:
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called on behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testified

follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY.VR. EDWARDS:

Q Dr. Lichtenstein, you are a practicing physician and
surgeon, duly licensed to practice in this State? A I anm.

' Q And you are the assistant physician in the City Prison,

aré.you not? A 'Ve¢, six, ;

! And have been for how long? A- Foér two years.

Q - Now, on thexmorning of the lSth of June Wefe yoii called.
to see Bennle Schneider? A 1 'was

A\

Q Will you state what condition vou found him in, and
what you found as the result of your examination of him? A I
founi---

EY THE COURT

Q He was brought to your office, wasn't he? You didn'®
see him in his cell? A No, your Honor. He was in the Yarden's
€
And vo ] ny €
1 A 0, 8ix
D®ARDS:
) tel vhat ! e ! 13
’ fice? . A He wag higbhly nervo lg
1e(y. ~ He had contusione the forehead on both sides.
Hies face showed abrasions, more marked on thf right side,

o the neck he had 'an abrasion, bout one agnd & hal inches

WK




nmn!ﬂﬂnnn—un;uqﬁ&

SO YRR PN TR A A T e A o TR L L AT e o oo e

' - long.

He had also an abrasion---Yes, the lower 1lip on the right

side was cut and bleeding---the right side of the chest showedl
abiaeion about two and a half inches long, just above the fourtéa
- ! rib, and the back showed an abrasion, atout two inches long, juit
over the scapula. |
Q Well, show that to the jury or vour own body, A Here

(Indicating).

Q . What does that mean? A. (There) (Indicating).

©
=
[
ot
o}
-
ot
jog
-
o
"
-
o
o
@
Lz}
-
-

lease. ‘(Indicating the Crier)
A Right here (Indicating). On the right side, over here, just
-about (the fourth rib, he had an abtraston two and a half inches
long, and an abrasion,~an inch and a k&Mt bhalf loéng here (In-

2 : >
dicating). »

BY THE COURT:

2 "What is an abrasion, Do:tor? A A break in thi gkin.
Q And they were roacent injuries? A Yes, s
Q They were fresh injuries A es, I |
9 “’3{‘1, at. '3 1€ 8 *l._ luenessa
Q Well, they are commonly known as Black eyes, are they
d not? A Yes, Bir. The lower lip on the right side was out
art bleeding. The abdomen showed no marks, but was tender to ‘the
Louch. The shin bohe on both sidea waa contused MRJ was very

tender to. the touch.

BY MR. EDWARDS:
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Q That means bruised, does it not? A VYes, sir.
Q Vow, doctor, can you state, with reasonable certainty/

what those abrasions were caused by? A They appeared to b";% .

‘caueed by some blunt instrument.

Q That ie, should vou say that they could have been caused
by the fists alone? A I don't think so.

Q Well, could some of them have been caused by kicking
with the shoe on? A ;Sr, that's very likely.

Q@ And did vou examire any of the other men, Firola or ¥aestxy
or NMapolitano? A Tdidn't examipe them, but 7 think it was
Vaestry toldi me his mouth was sore.

Q Waen't that Va;olitino? (Iniicaving Napolitano) A No.
Yes;, it was that man, Yés. He told me that hiha gum was aore.
But he didn't mention anything about a locse tooth at the time.

Q Didn't he mention any other injuricas at all y No,

3ir; he showed -me no injuries at all.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY YR. PALMIERI:
Doctor, you have described minutely all the scratches and
injuries ycu ¢bserved on EBenny Schneider? & es,
Q And you haven't forgotten them? A No Y he
record here (Iniicating)
@  You even made a report o the District Attorney? A Oh;
n;, not to-the District AT'vf:av, e make out a report owur-

welvep in every case.

@ What was the pulse of Firolal Al didn'i amine ~iyhé.
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of them, either of these three men, no one except Schneider.

Q' Did you look ‘a.t Napolitano's face? A Yes, 1 passed
the oel) and looked ‘at his face. _ r"

Q Didn't he have a bruise on his face? ' A FHe had no bruis
on his face that I saw.

Q . Well, Keeper Strouse says he saw one on his f;cé? A
Well, that makes no difference.
BY THE COURT:

3 That time xi; you,aee him, doctor? A On that same day,
in the morning.

Q@ Well, what time did you get there in the morning? A
ﬁbout ten é':locs_ .1 got there at a quarter to ten, that morn

Q WYell, then, it was after .rﬁ o'clock when you sawhim?
A Yes, sir; it was after ten o'clock.
BY VR. PALVIERI:

Don't youw know that Napolitano told Keeper Strouse thaf
his tooth was langling? A 0, he didn't tell me Lbaf.
THE COURT
Q And you dont't know what he tuld Keeper Strouse, do you?

A Mo, sir.

BY MR. PALMIBRI:
i Well, did you ask hiw what injuries he had received?
A I went to his cell~--- o

W (Question repeated) & | went to his cell arnd he %0ld

me that hie mouth was sore, but be didn't tell me that he had



B LI a loose tooth.

MR. PALVIERI: I move to strike that out as irrespdnsive.

THE COURT: - Denied.
VR. PALVIERI: Exception,: ]
& = BY YR. PALVIERI: : o t
Q Did you ask Napolitano---and I repeat the question---
. what injuriee he had received? A I did not, because he iidn‘t
complainof any injuries, except a sore mouth. !
Q@ And do you. think you .have boi to make an explanation
to answer that question? A I have to; I couldn't answer it
otherwise. |
VR. EDWARDS: The People rest.
BY MR. PALMIERI:
Q Oh, weré those inguries thaf Vr. Schneider was suffering |
from such ae to, in your opinion, cause grievous bodily harm? ‘
WR. EDWARDS: That is objected to. It is not & matter
foxr the doctor's opinion.
THE COURT: I wizl overrule the objection.
A They were not.

VR. PALVIERI: That's ali.

VR.EEDWARDS:  That's all fhe People rest.

MR. PALMIERI: Eefaex you rest, "I would like to recall
Rothman. I don't want to make him my own witness.

THE COURT: Well, recd 1 Rothman.

ABRAHAY¥ NGO TN RAN Leinb recalled for further



6rosn examination, testified as follows:

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. PALVIERI:

'Q Now, ¥r. Rothman, I am going to ask you two queition‘?'f
A ALY ‘right, 8ir.

Q. Now, the ?1r;t juestion is this: Now, pay attention
to me---When Vaestry, Firola and Napolitano were beating Benny
Schneider, did you shout? A No, sir,

Q All right. Now, I'11 ask you another 1uestion. Where
was Maestry when "f. Strouse came to the cell? ' A ‘Where was
Vaestry?

Q Yes? A He just run out; he was jusat running out.

Q Then he just ran 1nto_£he arme of Mr. Strouse? A No.
When Strouse was qoming in, he ran right out.

Q Anihow far d4ii he get? A Well, juset past him, and

ran right out, and one remained in the cell.

"
B
Q Now, you are positive about that? A Yem, 8if, e
¥
Q  When Strouse came to the cell only one man was in the
cell? A Yes, sir.
Q Yaestry had run out of thecell? A VYes, sir,
Q  Passed the door of the cell? A Yes, sir. .

Q And now m2 there but one §xx man inside? AYes, s8ir.

Q And that man was whom? A Frank---the fellow with
the so;é finger. +tdon't know his name.

Q VAni QOu are poait:ve abouf that? A Yes, sir.

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY VR. EDWARDS:
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‘Q Where was Napolitano when Strouse got thers? A He

i .

/ Just jﬁmped out. .
Q Now, when you say that Maestry went out as Strouse came
in, do you mean they passed each otier.at the door? A-Ng, gir
' Yaestry was outside; ' -
| Q How. far from the door? ‘A Hw;ht closé to the door, fold-
ing his hands that way, from here to here. (Illu tratimg).
MR. PALVIERI: Well, 1 would like toc have that distance.
THE WITNESS: From fw) 0. here (f;luatratinbj
VEV VR EbNARDS:
Q Now, that is just about ~u;‘xzﬁlﬁ of the long, narrow
gallery which runs around in fruit d the cella? A Yes, sir.

‘Q < Now, were you exqiteu, that morning? A "Yes, eir; I
was éxcitel.

Q . Have you been pro&iael anything by the District Attorney
or aﬁy one connected with himvin return for your testimony in
this case? A No, sir.

,”F; PALYIERI: Pardon mre, your Honoxr. Would you expect him 1t
say yes?

VR

. EDWARDS: And 1protest against any such remark by counses

- as highly improper.
‘ THE. COURT: And the jury will entizely disregard remarks.
MER. PALYIERI:- Then I object on the ground that it ie not
. proper re-direct. ' | |

THE COURT: The objection is overruied, and the question and
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answer will stand.
b  ¥R. PALMIERI: Exception.

EY MR. EERXRESX PALMIERI:

9 80 you are a witness now, as we underataind it, in two s "

-~ cases? You are a District Attorng ffice witness in the ather

case, too, aren't you? A The Diatrict Attorney's witnesa?

Q@ Yea? A Well, I turned State's evidence.

& And you are a witness in this case for the District At-
torney 7 A Just what I see told [ am telling the truth.
Vﬁ. PAMIERI: - That's al
EDWARDS: The ‘Peopl ree
¥R. PALMIERT: /T your Honor to direct the jury  to

acquit---to advise the jury to acjuit, on the ground that .the

People have fajiled to establish the crime of assault in the firs¥

degree.
"THE COURT: Well, the District Attorney said in his open-
ing that he would suczit 1t as aseault in the second .degree.
YR.EDWARDS Yes, s8iz

THE COURT: Ishall submit it a8 assault in the second degree

nd assault in the third degrees, to the jury. I will deny your

Lt motion to take it from the jury, or to direct a verdict.
YR. PALMIERI: Upon the whole case?
THE COURT Yes, upon the whole case as it stands now.

MR, PALMIERI: I r=spectfully except.

-==0000000==~
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JOWN BROOKS TAYLOR, of 338 West 63nd
; Street, a witness called on behalf of the defense, being duly‘
sworn, testified as follows: ity
DIRECT EXAVINATION BY MR, EDWARDS: »
- Q@ Mr. Taylor, you are in the Tombs on what charge?® : A
Suepicion,. {
Q You haven't been indicted yet, have you? A No, sir.
Ani how long have you been in the Tombe? A Eighty-fous
18y 8.
Au;, before you weér ke e Tombs on suspicion,
think you were convicted af petfy larcegy? A Yes, Bir.
Q How many times? y 'Three times. -
Q For petty larceny? A Yes, sir.
BY THE COURT:
Q Three times? A Yes, sir,
5Y.’??PAL"TFFI:
Q Now---A - Suspended sentence, vour Honor.
EY MR:PALVIE Ia
'A‘innvt Lear that, A . O suspended ssntence.
Q Well, you haven't teen tried on this charge of suspielion
(™ yet? A ‘No, eixe  *

YR. EDWARDS: There ia no charge at all, I take 1t.
THE COURT: Well, proceed. Go on. You know that that
arounts to nothing, Mr. Palmieri.

BY MR: PALMIERI:
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of the inmates of the Tombe? A Yes.
Q What was-it? A Well, the tier ienopened and we

get breakfast at seven o'clock, but sometimes it's later than

‘- that. 1It's between eeven and eight. We had gur breakfast. - :
Q *Well, about when was 117 A Atbout ten minutes after we
had our breakfast, about ten mibutec to nevei.
2 'Were you walking on the tie: t.the time? A Yes, sir;

with Yaeatrv.

On i econd tier?
Q Now,tdl the jury what you saw and heard, and what Mr.

Maeatry did and whatyou 1id? A We were walking arouni the
tier. We heard the shouta of "Help". Somevody was screeching
"Help". Maestry and 7 was walking around the:tier and we
ran around to the cell where there wa - fighting, %n} there -were
four men in the fight, and Yaestry started to split them, and
I tried tohelp tim; and the keeper came around and I went awgps
Q Now, ;here vas the fight? 1In what cell?: A It was on
the threshhold of 210 cell.
Q Is: that Benny Schneider's cell? A Yes, sir

- 3

Q And was that Rothman's cell? A Yes, sir.

‘ Q Now, how many people were. fighting in the cell when you
and Maestry approached 1it? A Four men.
Q * And who were they? A Schneider and his cell mate, I

don't know his hame.
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2'_‘. Q Rothman? A Yes. And thie Ttalien boy here, and ano-
- ther Italian. .

r

X Q VNow, how were they fighting? Just

Jury? A They were in a tussle. T didn't

I seen- them kicking and punching, but ther

Q That is, you couldn't distinguish the hands ox feet?
No, 8ir They were all huddled together, kicking and punching
| at each othei It was nore of ‘astle than a fight.
|
‘[' ) ! yuldn ' e N wed any -blows? - No
i ua14 e ) J fighting? 4 Yes
sir.
; 2 Now, when Keeper Schnelder---when Keeper Strow came
!
) there, re you and '"aestry there? A - Why, there W a crowd
I ounl th ~ a7 = ¥ 27 8 -
‘ 1Trounad € cal € LIIE KEEDPET COImME,y
: ;
‘ BY THE COURT:
Q' 'Now, wheéen per reu came there ere yvou and “Yaeetry
'c,.c? A "'L,d.
Q. Which keeper go here first? A Mr. Strouse
Y Ar en he g there, where were vaeetry and yourself?
in front of the cell, trying tc 1it thken apart.
L Vaeetry i T were in front Le cell.
BY MB. PADMIERI:
Q And how nany inmates were in front of that cell? A 1

+
L

fenty or

should judge.about

YR. That's

PALVIERI :

describe it to the

see Any tlows struck.

was nobody .got hi




CROSE EXAMINATION EY MR, EDVARDS:

Q How many timee did you say you had teen convicted of

petty larceny? A Three times.

2 . When Wa; the first time?

Q And.rhen-was the second
Bl

,:[ And hen wae the thir

Q And the first time h
gir

4 the cond
- éUJ he' third t ¢ A
Q' And how long aft you got
; 5

vefcre vou were arrested!?

TEE .COURT: Well, the arre
EY YR. FDYARD

« How long have you been in

£
<

o

c

Q That's one tier above th

Q@ And how high are the cells

cr fourteen feet.

ans nothing, Yr. Edwarde:

¥ere on the second tisr

£ N Y

That was three years ago.

\ . About three vears

snde s 2 3110 © A Yea
IBPENAEl SCL LENQ ¢ i 28,

rontos.,’
LonNntae .

he last tine was 1t

1
¢
o
[®)
E]
~)
>
|
c
s |

try? A Since I have

then, weren't you? A Yes,

veen tiers? A Twelve
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eir.

Q Can you touch the ceiling? A WNo, sir.
'‘Q How near can you come to it? A TWithin about a foot

from the ceiling.

And how tall are vou? 4 Five foot nine.
Q@ Now, te celle are arranged with a gallery outside? The
! S0l ! ni ourtT L1¢ “ 8ir,
b i - lexrv? A ) Ve
‘)i f ed 1 .
| @ And . you. can sce the men when theyv are exercising on
' the flata? A 'Ves, sir
} Q And vou frequently talk to thewm, don't you? A Yes
g
!
I sir.
I Q Now, when iid vo 2 up with Yaestry, this morning, on
1
i your walk? A Right after breakfast I ate bre : SR\
! J I
!
i Bwe out y 11 and 1 wal 1 up towar is cell, and we siart
i e wlking together.
Q2 Yhioh way did you walk? A Here | y .cell and here
is ere the fight was. (Illustrating).

ar did vou get before the shouts that you

bave been telling itout? A Just ae I sturted walking with

Yaestry we heard the hollering.
Q And near what cell were you? A @h, between {ive and

' nine?
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ing? A Yes, sir.

" And 414 you see Vaestry come ocut of his

Q Did you see---had he eaten his brezkfast?
‘ Q Did you see him eat his breakfast? A No, sir.
. Q ‘You didn't see him eat iﬁ7 & No, sir.
Q Had you eaten your Lreakfaet? A Yes, Bir.
9 TPheh vou heard L:;?U houts, what did you do? A - I ran
wround- there.
3 Yes? A Yes.
fell, tefore you ra rourd, did you sce anybody outside
of any other cell on that ;;j: of the tler? A 0, 8ir. We
headed the lire when we were walking around. Thse whole tier was
walking. “
Where was the keecper? A On the bridge, at his desk
) . Did vou se eper Strouse? A No, eir; he was on the
opposite =i I hadto walk around to see him.
Q ow, yo cell 1s ¢ the sa side as Vaestry's? A Yeasj
sir. s
¥ell, you oculd see til t whole weet ‘side of the tier,
hen ycu care out of wvour cell, couldn't you? A Yes.

- )" And when you returr i to walk torards cell -5, you had &
view of it clear up to the division of the two xk blocks? ANo,
Qir,——-yee, eir.

Q And 4id you seec any nee;efs there? iA Ko, sir, Keepers

don't stand im the pascageway. They stand on the bridge.
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Q And you didn't eee, then, either Fassiy or Strouse? A

BY THE COURT

Q Are you in the same cell that you were in on that day? |

A Yes, air.

Q@ And is Maestry:zthere? A Yes, sir. He locks in 2305,

juet the same.

-

Q He 1s still there? A Yesz

"BY ¥R. EDWARD

]

.

Q And when you got arcund the corner of the cell block |

t

1id you sece? A T éeen the fight.

~

Q@ ‘"here? A The entrance to the first cell. You had to

urn around. Here ie the tier here ’Illustra'iné) and we were

walkin_ along, and, as soon as you turn the corner, that's wherej

the cell is, where the fight was.

Q "ho wae in the fight? A  This little Italian boy over

Q Do you call Napolitano a little Italian boy? A Well,

ves, Ana Schneider and his cell mate and another Italian fel=-

Q Vho is he? A ‘I don't know his name. He locks in on
the third tier. He was on the third tier btut was on the zecon

tier then.

»~

‘Q Who wse his cell mate on the second tier? A I don't

_know..
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Q How long have you been on that tier A Idon't?inow,

Q Well, what wase going on? A. They were wrastling, and‘
all huddled together in the iodi, right on the threshhold of
the door.

Q Did you see any one get thrown downp A ‘ﬁo,(sir.

Q Did you see any one go into the cell? p. No, eir,

Q Did you see all' four .of them go into the cell? , No,

Q Did you see them separate? A When the keeper comes,
I w;lkei away.

Q Did you see ther §egarute5 A No, s8ir; I walked ;way.
Q Wren the keeper came iid they stop etruggling? A Theése
two Italian fellows backed along the tier, Maestry and thie
utpnr Itdian fellow.

Q Were they in the cell Wwhen the keeper pot there? Were

any of the Tttalian fellows in the cell when the keepergot there?t

A Tcouldnt't tell; T dldnvt sse them. I 4idn't see any more;
rhen the keeper came I walked ray
) Did you see whether any of the men who were fibht—
ing went in® the cell» A No, sir.
Q Dii vou esee whether Napolitano went into. the cell? A Noj
gir.

Q - Did he .o in there, in the cell, while you were watching?

A Nd, eir; not while I. was there.

»

Q Did the other fellow go into the cell at all? A I didn¥y
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: , ' Q Did you see EBchneider and Rothman back into the 6ell?

see no one go into the cell.

e L e G ey

A No, but' I seen the other two men split away when the keepe® \&

came and I walked away,.

- 2 Did you walk away bvefore 'aestrv 4id? 'A I don't know.
Q@ Did youwalk away with him? A No, eir; 1 walked away

the other way. (Illustrating)
you see him walk away? A No, sir; I didn't notice.

You had been helping him © separate these men, hidn't

Q' Did vou. make any report to the kesper about it? - A No,

sir.

Q' Did yvou tell ‘p;e; Stro that you had seen 1t7 &  NOS
b B

Di rou go to rov and tell him that Maestry

nothing to do with it and w only. @ rating them. A
liev lie asked me something avout it.

3 I asked you ether you told him? A 1 thiz K o}

! ves. I rerember speaking to him about it. He aeked me whethe:

i

1 was there when it etarted, and I said “Certainly T was, and I
seen Vaestry separating them."
Q Vell, were you there when 1t started? A. No, six,

Q “Well, why did you tell Strouse that you were? ﬂlfxitln’?_
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mean to say that. I only helped Maestry to eplit them apart,

.but T couldn't. They were too mich hudiled‘tOSether.

Q@ Did Yaestry separate any of them? A 'No, sirx

Q Were you struck by anybody? A No, sirt
Q@ Did you get any teeth knocked out? A No, sir.

Q Did vou get your face ascratchei? - A .No, sir.

A

ell, where did yvou go after this happened? A T kept

valking around the tier.

e

Now, when you heard this cry what d4id you do? What was
sald? A "Help" I made it out to be; "Help".

Q ‘Well, was 1t "Help"? A Yes

Q SBure 6f that? A Positive
Q. wae it an Enzlish word? A 'I couidn't tell that.

Q- 'Did it sound like a Jewieh word? ‘A No, 8ir,

o~ Q Or like an Italian voice? A Well, no," sir; Toouldn'u
say. 1 rade out the word "Help" among all the hollering:
3  Well, 3414 Maestry say anything to these men? A Hi vidy
"“"!1{’ iy ! ? il w b ek 3“-‘?5&‘& "*.IHJ
T hat &1l bhe 1 es, 81r.
Can v recol oh él t he said’ ‘A No,
f sir,
Did any one gay anything. him’ A No, 8lr.
Did he say that in jtalie ) in English? 'A  In English
(% How loyﬁL have .you known 200 cano A Since 1 }"l;l"“?, neer
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Did he speak English there on the tier? A Yes, 8ir.

He espeaks pretty good English? A Well, not very.

O O O

Can you understand him? A Yes, sir. { : o

any troukle in talking to him? A No, 8ir. :

O
@
<
o
e
=
@
bl

-~ 2 Do you talk to him often? A Well, no, just good morn-

. X i
ing . or afternoon. 2 : it

s -Did you talk to Fdréla, the other man? A Yee, gir.

2 Did he speak English? A Yes, broken, English.

@ Andi Yaestrv is-an Italia: 00, isn't het A Yes, air.
RE-DIRECT EXAVINATION BY VK. PALYIER]:
How 4id you know that Vaestry is an Italian? Don't you

know that re wa: torn here? A "ell, I see the way he spmks,
Jow, Jjust one more Juestion. Did vou see Vaestry strike
wry blows or hurt anybody? A No, sair

Q' And before this becurrence, “aestry was with yout?

RE-CROSS FXAVINATIOF BY “R. FDFWARDS

U o
Oh, by the way, forg t 8 ou & quesation ]
} 3 g 2 | r 3 3 A N
you ever hear anvtody talking to Schneider in the Tombaf ¢ Noy

o i iy A

3

Q@ Ever hear: anybody call hin & 2% or a 8juesler? A Ko
v sir,
Q ' Did you ever hear him sent for te the District Attorney's

affic

o

T 'K "Roy sl
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Q Is that a fact? A Ves, sir.

N

@ And isn't 1t a fact that the keepere call out all thréug

‘the tiers when a man is wanhted to go to the District Attorhey;lii
Office? A. I couldn't say.

. & ) Tell, haven't vou often heard it called out?. A Well,

yes, I have.

¥R. - PALVIERI: Well, what hae this got to do with thie

THE COURT: Tell, vou bhave not objected If ycu bad ob-
ected, - I wou have sustained the objectior
FRADNEK MAESTRY , of 830 East 178th Street, one of

the deferndants, being duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAVINATION EY MR. 'PALMIERI
i r. Maestry, where were you born? A New York City.
How old 'are you? ‘A Twenty-three.
Q3 And you have teeén in the Torbe how long?. A Four
And re ar think==-
T 0 v 1 v ) . - .
- 4 L ALK i€ J.r..'; j.')u &
DAT VT
r ~
It istwoy=am si u were arrested? . A Yes, 8ix
’
Cu Werxe ) d | Ves X
\nd your case Wwent to the W ¥ Appeals? (A -Yes; 81r,
nd was reversed? A Ye ,
And you have now pleaded ,wilty to mansisughter in the
2t e

iegree? A Yes, sl
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Q Will you etate to the jury what that was?' A Well, me
and this man, named James Rimore, we hadi a quarrel and he shot

at ‘we and T shot back at him, in self defense.

Q It was not a crime for which you were paid to kill any-
tody? "A No, sir. He shot at me and I shot at him.
Q Now, go'on and tell vour story to the jury, without my

asking a single question. A Gentleren of the Jury---

BY THE COURT:

Q Now, just tell us what happened on this particular morn-
ing. .That is all we want A On June 19th, when this trouble

happened, T locked in cell 305.
o S 2

BY THE COURT:

' Well, when you say you "locked in", vou mean that you

are locked in that cell? A ﬂee, gir.

3 That is your cell? A Yes, sir.

Qy And ' who was yol el te? A I have no c¢ell mate
in cell 205, and the 1 re opened at seven o'clock, or
juarter j 1. seven——=a( enty-five mirutes pas

2 Well, I can't jud ime it was, this norning,:when
they opened the cells ¢ take that breakfast, prison foodv

I buy mv own food.

Yhen the officer opened our c¢ell, he opened our side, not
he opposite eide; and when he let us out, 1 awept out ny cell;

12

and this young man; r..Tavlor came =nd asked me for a magazine

and Igave it to him, and we started %o walk around; and we got
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to cell 209---betwee' 207 and 305, and we heard shouts for ho‘lp,
and we koth went around there, and T saw four men fighting by
the threshhold of the cell, and at Benny Schneider'e cell, 21§! ‘

and they were punching away at each other.

And I told them they were fools and they would only lose

thelr privileges, and wouldn't get no'vi<i:a, and they wouldn't
i g & :

pay no attention, and I tried to break them away the best way

away," and then they finally looked around and ecen who it

Ld.r threw himself on the ted when he

care and-he mald, "Brcsak away, ‘break

seen who it was, that it wae the officer, andi commenced to scres

Anrd 1 told Yr. Strouse that I wanted to explain 1t to him;

nd he eaid, "Vell \
DV TuT A -
' 1 T, rouse. You were not
acked, that. Ehiat "' 11l I Know.
BY YR. PARMIFRI:
f‘ -
ol 2 Did vou etrike an¥ blows, Yr. Maestry A ¢, I had no
4 3 '\\]
Q@ Did you have t rroub vith Benny Schneider before
this occurrence? A No, sir,

Q@ Did Schneider hit you? A No, air.



'punches'at each other. And T even ot a few puncheé in the

v | i I 5 4 "
‘ i : ‘ ‘ Te e
Q Who were the.four men that. were fighting when you got

there? A’ Frank Firola, Napolitano, Rothman and Schneider, '

and they were clinching most of the time and making kickse and

&l

Jaw myself, trying to separate them.
n
%

Now, during your entire time that you have lived here,

-

the only two times that you were in trouble w ere the timesa

of this occurrence where the man shot =zt you and you shot at

him? A VYes. And another time a suspended senternce.
Q. "hen was that? A Nine years ago.

'hat wae- that for? You had better tell the whole

S

truth to this-gjury. A 1T was indicted for ourglary in the third

egree, and 1 took a plea, and Judge 0'Sullivan cuspended asen-

< What was that burglary? A Stealing some chees

@

@ 0Oh, somethin. was sald about "Rocks" Cornell. He was

never on that tier, was he? A No, sir I never spoke to the
ran an lon't know him and never heard of hin
And, sv far as thistier was concerned, "Rocke" Cornell

wasn't on ' this tier? A No, sir; he was on the flats.

¢ Can you say what the flats were, withoréspect to 'the
tier atove? A Our tier, the secon tier, 1is prettv near one
story above the flata, ani the passageway is only about three

feet and a half wide, and, if anybody storped there , 1t wonlg

te an interference with the crowd, and the nfficer Keepe every-
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body moviﬁg. it bt ke s

Q Now, if any oﬁe wants to talk to any one on the aécoﬁd
tier of tie flate, must he shat it out? A He's got to shoutki[:
1&, and ‘I ket everyt@iy hears it. .

‘ | CROSS EXAMINATION BY VR. EDWARDS:

Atout how many feet---atout ten feet---are the flate from |

!

O

your cell door? A T couldn't say how many feet it 1is.
Well, isn't it . a fact that the prisoners talk between
the gratinge on that tier to the men-on the flate below? A No,

glr; it's agsinst the rules.

&

Well, did you ever hear a Fiiooﬂzl talk to any other
prizoner fioryour :i-r,.:be seconi tier, to arother prisoner on thy
flate? A . No, sir
ow, where did you treak in and steal the cheese, in the

curglary case? A T 1idn't break into the store. 1 was supposed

I ou pl / v v, n' 4 88, 8lI
es, others broke in while you were on the lookout? A Yes,
gir.
Q ow, did you eet up the delense of self defense when you
[ fere ried for the omicide? A Ves .

And the jury comvicted you? A Yes, 8ir. A

And vou careé back bere ani pleaded pguilty? A Yes, »iz.
. Q - Although yLu say you shot in self defense? A Yes, sir..

| Q Who was. your couneel in that case? Vr. .Pairieri? A Yegy

1)
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¥r. Palmieri.

Q@ PNow, on this particular mooning--- bv the way, is that

burglary char.e the only conviction you ever had, before this

manslauvghter conviction? A Yes, sir,
You are awaiting sentence now on the manslaughter charge,
aren't you? A Yeg sir” g R
- |
Q@ You pled gullty in May, in the Supreme Court, before

Justice Shearn? A Yes, 8ir,
v Where were vo n you heard thi ;. for help? A Be-
tweel cell 205 and 209, ¢ the oppoelte 0 ennie Sclneid

Yes: That weculd be on the west side, wouldn't it? ﬁ
"C:, elir.
And who were vou with then?.A ¥r. Taylor, Yr. Joh;
Taylor.,
Q cbody els rour that you knew - at thé tire? A i
radually-=--tIr ole tier walke, vou I} There 1s fifty
01 ixt Y lex.
Pell, bhave vou recognized anytody else keing near you 8%
Lig ime? A No, sir.
2 ¥Well, how far did v ‘walk before yvou heard this call?
A From my cell, 205 to 208.

Well, what was the call you heard? A The shouts, "Help".

&0

¥hat language was it in? A FEngliah.

Did you recopnize the voice? A No, 8ir.

e



ETIA

W

T Cot o . o,

ULANEL

ne!
———

Q Did you recognize it as the

knew? A No, -sir.

Q@  And vou.went imrediately to

~

On the threshhold of the cell.

(;‘l.n., Fhat do vou wean by -t
No iz *he 3 11 n o
» 5 Lilere 1E i § A
1 - i ratdin )
] Indicatin. ) '
0 YO BN 0 h X
ur hes from tl i} shho
:.Ll, HNEXE '\ er L
Were there? A ea, sir.
And 4did all © vhe nave o
ome of them in the ¢ell? A Well

Q@ And where were the four men

voice of any one that

v

2107 A ves, sir.

w}en you reached 210Y A
. . !
hat? in the to’or.way? A 'l
e he threshhold, right
? ix. Three or
re? A Yes, sir.
o
eir feet on the fier, orwere

» benny Schnelder and -Abe’

Fothman wae more on the insfide of the cell, and the other two W
ore on the tiler chneider and Rothman were half way in and’
!..;‘ Nay (\. .-.' Ay - " ‘-I- \J - .}‘\’ A':‘(J.A"
Tre ey were ir " ren't they? A. No, sir; they
vere on the threshhold.
Q ell, that would mean thiat e four' of ther were actual-
ly in the {‘ur*i"? A Yes, slr; balf way out
<« +Thern they were partly in, weren't they? A ell, half
in andi half out. !
Q Who were out? A Napolitano ani Firola, nd rLeAutLer twe

were just insiide of the door.

No,

I rerenrber now.

All four were
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out on the tier, just by the door.

Q “Now, when you left your cell, that morning, how long
was it after the gates were opened? A Well, actually, when

.hey all had treakfsst, in ten or fifteen minutes the cell doorse

Q ftll, the cells are dépened. befor O et breakfast are
! hey? A Yes.
-I
A L / 45 ] Ou icCa
JC I cell? A A L \ '
You hadn' A No, eir
Y itin for the coffze . to con wround. |
Now, where 4id vou ree ohn Tavlor? A John Taylori
Q Yes? A He o \ o ell, snd asked me for amaga-
zine.
Oh, hé ca s t0 your cell door und asied vou for a mags
zine? A. Yes, sir
I LU Y came 0 r ¢elly A Yes,
e
Wol 1 ¢ t ide O ! ler, when you came
t © r cell r 0l ier waeg walking around at the
'jlc'
Q 0id J BEE Iy Keerer ;4 Tell, 1 ®serx ne officer try+
ing to open cell 203, I should judge.
Q Well, what keeper was. that? A Well:: 1 éculLW"'Lc¢i you
what keeper 1t was. r
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Q Weren't there two of them? A .No, sir.

Q Well, which was 1t? Fasesiy or Strouse? ﬁhich was it

fir

u judge Fassig. s

that you saw? A 1 should

Q Strouse wasn't there? A No, sir,
Nell, where was Strouss? A I think he was by the desk;
1
I am not poaitively sure I couldn't awear to it

Yell, 413 you.see hiun?2 A VYo

Then, of course, you can't tell ue where he was. Where

did you go then? A We walked up from my cell, 305, to 209

and heard some shoute, and then we ran around to cell 310 where

,

this troutle was.

1 Now, did you see any blowe or kicks given by anybody to

anybody else? A *ell,#they were too c¢lose to each other. They

kicked and punched at each other but I didn't see aﬂycody kick.

or punch an&body elég. I couldn't tell who the man.wae, at leaét
Did you see any kicks given to anybody? A

Yes, sir.

Q@ Or blowe? A Yes, eir; the four were etrikins‘ani kicking
at each other, tut T couldn't el; ther apart.

"ell, did you see !lapolitano strike any blows? A No,
sir. While they were kicking and striking at'hin, he was strikiﬁg
and kicking back.

And what did }ou do then? A I asked, in a nice gentle
way, I asked themto break away, and T said that they would be
foolish 'to get ohalked that way, because they oouidn't see their

families, their folke.
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< Did you say that in Faglish or in Italian? A In English. e
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Q Does Napolitano speak Fnglish? A Not very well . I
% didn't know at that tim whether he spoke good Englieh or’not.'
@ Though youhyere tere four months? A tge: but onl} |
two months at that time. .
BY THE COURT:.
' < And how many hours 2 day do you spend outside of your
cell? A Four hours; two hours in the morning and two houre
in the thnrnoon.
BY YR. EDWARDS:

<« Now, tell me whether or not you saw what Strouse did when

he got therc? A Mr, Strouse told them to break away and go
to their cells, and they obeyed their orders.
.4 Did he separate them? A No, sir.
Are you positive of that? A  Yes, sir.
Did he try té separate ther? A I didn't look, I didn't
notice.
2 Do vou remember this testimony on the 1ést trial, do you
remember my asking you this question:
. "Q Did you see Strouse arrive.on the Scene? A Strouse?
(& . "Q Yes, keeper Strouse? A-Yes, he tried to separate them.
A No, sir.
Q Didn't you give that testimony on the last trdal? A No,

8ir.

Q Areyou sure of that? A 1 am positive.
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Q Now, did all these four men go into the cell at any time

A No, sir; I wasm't preeent when the trouble started. i f"'
gL -

BY THE COURT:

5

Q Vell, 414 you see them in the cell at, any t;me? That
is what he meana? A No, sir. |
BY YR. EDWARDS:

Do you remember thie question: "Q Well, where were
they? Whereabouts? A Well, at the start, when I tried to avoi¢
the trouble, they were right ln_ffont'o? the. cell. They all went
in, in a body." Do you remember that testimony? A They
were all in a clinch.

Q Do you remember that testimony? A They were all in -
a clinéh.

~Q Do you remember that testimony: Q In wberé? A In
the cell." Do you remember those juestions anl answers? A _>
No, eir.

Q Did you give thatbteetivony on the last trial? A No,
sir.

Q You didn't give it at all? A No, seir.

Q& PNow, did you see whether Fapolitano went into the cell

at all? A No, sir.

Q Well, can vou state whetﬁer he 4id 20 into the cell or
not? A Ican't state, because I waen;t present.

Q _Do you remember my aéking you thig question, referring

vto the time when Strouse arrived. "Q Where waa\Napolitano?
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A They were in the cell, punching at each other."
o ]

glve that testimony? A No, sir.

Did you
Q Will you swear that you didn't give it? A Yes.
Q Now, dii you see anything else about the cell? A No, sir.

Q@ Didn't you notice any broken china around there? . A There
wae pieces'of a broken bowl on the tier. 

Q@ Did you see that? A Vea,lsir.

Q Did you see ther when you were separating them? A No,

str.

Q ‘When did you see them? A  After the fight.
Q When? ‘I thought you &ent right to }our cell and were
locked in? A Well, just when the officer came, Yr. Strouse, and
separated them, I seen pieces of_a broken bowl.

Q@ Did you see any china in the cell? ATROL ELE,

'Q Do you remember my asking you this Juestion: "QYon
were in there, weren't you? A Yea; I was trying to geparate

them?" . A No, sir.
Q@ Do you remerber this juestion: "Q You followed them

in to separate them? A I didn't follow anyboly. I seen four

men right on the outside of the cell, punchigg away 'at each other

and T tried to separate them and they all went in abunch into

the cell.;_' Did you say ‘that? A The four men was in the fromnt.
Q Did you“say that? ‘A No, sir.
Q Is that true? A Yee, sir.

Q What T just read to you? A .1 don't remember.
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. men was in the clinch, aniifignting at each other, taking a

iy PR—
| 87 .
IQ Now, I'll repeat it. "Q ‘AYou,weré in there, weren't
you, A Yes, I waé tfying to aeparaf& them and they‘all fell
in abunch into the cell." Did you say that? Al Ney stgs X
don't remember. i
Q Well, is that the fact? A No, eir.
Q Ten't that wh;t{happened? A No, sir,
Q@ Andrdid you ever speak to Schneider on that tier? A
Nevar spoke to the man in my life.
Q Ever call him a rat? A ‘No, sir; there was no reason
why I should. |
“E. EDVARDS: That's all.
RE-DIRECT EXAVMINATION EBY WR. PALMIERI:
Q What 115 you say on the last ﬁxial with reference to

four men being together? A I says that, at the time the four

chance of getting a punch ovér, Vr. Strouse came along, and
he told them to go to their cells, and we went to vour cells
right away.

Q Now, at the time of this occurrence, had the judge before
whom you t ok a plea of manslaughter in the first degree sen-
tenced you? ‘A No, sir.

«

Q 'And when were you to go down to be sentenced? "Ths

day after this trouble occurred.

3 So that the day after this irouble occurred, you were tc

receive your sentence? A Yes, sir.
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88
. . MR, PALWIERI; That's all.

VR. EDWARDS: That's all.

Q Oh, what was the name of the other man tas testified
at the last trial? A Mike Premer. He was an Austrian.

Q Is he in the Tombs now? A He was 1ieqhargei‘yeaterday.‘

VR. PALMIERI: An;, if you have no objection, I will read
his evidence.

‘ I understand that he was acquitted from this witneee.
" WR. EDWARDS: No, he was discharged, he saye.

MR. PALMIERI: Now, I ask your Honor that the testimony of
the witness be read in this case. He was exanined and cross
examined, and his testimony has been.'transcribed. Do you.
agree to that?

VR, EDWARDS: No, I don't see why I shoull agree to that.

THE COURT: Well, have you any witnesees to produce here

now?
VR. PALVMIERI: Yes, Yr. Napolitano, and I ¢an't get the

other witness, because he has been discharged. fon't your

Honor permt me to read his testimony?
: fHE COURT: No, that is not one of the times when, uner
the Statute, it can be read. |
MR: PAMIERI: It could be done, if he consented.
. YR. EDWARDS: I don't consent. o

THE COURT: Well, he does noi consent.
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1 JOHN NAPOLITANO, of 3003 East 103ra Strest, one
. ‘ of the dafendgntn,'being duly sworn and examined through the
i | offioialrinherpreter, Mr. Moustachi, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION. BY VR.PALMIBRI:
- Q@ Mr. Napolitano, you have pled guilty to manslaughter?
. A Yes, sir.
Q And the judge sentenced you to Elmira Reformatory, I
think? A Yes, sir.
Q And you haven't yet gone to the Elmira Reformatory oﬁ
account of this trial? A Yes, sir.
And how many years have you beén in this country? A Four |

years.
@ And during those four years have you learned a little
"bit of English? A Very little.

Q Now, outside of this unfortunate occurrence in your
career, have you ever been vefore convicted of crime? A No,
sir.

2 Now, can you tell your own story in your own way to this

jury, without my asking a question? You understand that you

are charzed here with the crime of assault. Now, can you tell

- ///gbur own story to this jury in your own way? A Yes, sir.
Q Then, go on. A Four or five days before this happened,
L ; ;
I was walking along the ther, and Benny Schneider would go like.

that to me "Poop" (Illustrating) And he was calling me a son

of a bitbh.



A

PR L I T

I e2id to him, iNoy, you had better stop,or otherwiug 1
will rgport‘you to the warden." And he eaid "I don't give_d
damn about the warden, I am a friend of the Dietrict Aitornoy'ﬁ;:

In the morning, about ten minutes pgat seven, ;hen the ;
breakfast was brought to the cell door, I BPOOpei down to piok
up. this ﬁiah, with my breakfast, and it was for me and for my
cel} mate; and, when I tried to put the dishes outside after-
wards, Benny Schneider had a cup in his hand, a cup éimilar to
the cup on the table now. (Indicating People's Exhibit 1.)

And Eesaid, "What are you looking, you Dago son of a bitch?"
And T said, "I'm not looking ai you," &nd he said, "I'm going
to kill you," and he threﬁ a cup and hit me on my right elbow,
and TI've got the mark there yet. f tried to stop it and I
got the cup on the elbow.

Q Now, show it to the jury. A (The witness does 80).
And then I, in turn, picked up the 4ish and threw it at him, and
the bars of the cell being there, the dish broke up. And then
we ciinchei, ahi_he struck me with hie clenched hand on my mouth,
and T only struck back again, and h;a cell mate also struck me.

~

Q@ What is his name? X Rothman? A I don't know the name.

Q 1Is that the man that testified here for Schneider? A
Yee, sir.

Q And when Rothﬁan took a bhand in this fight, what 111Vyour

‘cell mate do, Firola? A Firola aleo came into the fight to help

me, and we all had a fight all around, we were clinched, and Maes-
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try rune and ﬁltoog hie hands to separate us, and said, "What
are you doing here?". You'are going up on your.sentence alfeﬁdy»
Do you want more trouble? If you mak= any troﬁble you will :
remain in solitary confinement for five dgyes here." And I
am in consumption. I didn't know thit this trouble would have
happened, and , if I had fought in the street with any citizen,
T wouldn't have got more than a five dollar fine, and here am I
now in prison for tbia-fight.

VR. EDWARDS: I object to the latter part of the answer
and move to strike it out.

TWE COURT: Stri;e it out.

ﬁr/vﬁalmieri; We e*cépt.
BY MR. PALVIERI:

Q Did you everééiy to Benny Schneidsr, "You . are the Dis-
trict Attorney's rat? A VNo.

Q ﬁo you know what "District Attorney's Rat" ie in youf own
topgue? A (No sswer).

MR- PAP”IERT- Just step aside ‘or a moment, Nr. Interpre-
ter.
BY VR. PAL"IEﬁI:

Q Now, look'at me. What is "District Attorney's rat"? A
] dontt understapd.

¢+ Did you evér call him "District Attorney's rat?" A (Ho
answer).

MR. PALVIERI : That'a all. '
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CROSS EXAMINATION BY VR, EDWARDS:

“

Q PNow, did you see Keeper Strouse when he oamd theie? A

|

-When Strouse came, Benny Schneider was kicking me:
Q Now, won't you please answer my question? Did youIOQO':
Strouse come? A I didn't pay attention, because T was taken

away. I didn't pay attention.

Q Did you see Keeper Strouse there at all? A Tsaw him

coming along.

Q Well, where were you when he came along? A I don't

know,
o 4 2 Were you in Bennie Schneider's cell? A  No.
Q ' Did you go into Benny Gchneijer;e cell at all? A VWe
‘ Aclinchei in frbnt of his éell.
Q" (Question repeated) At any time?‘ A No.
Q9 Ien't it a fact that, when Strouse aame there, éenny
Schnetder was ;yins on his back on the bunk in the cell, with
his lggs joined together behind you, ani Strouse had to pull
hizs legs off you? A Iliiin't pay attention to that, because 1
was getting blows after blows, and T waen't paying attention

to what happened.

bl

Q Wae Benny Schneider on his bunk in the cell when Strouse
got there? Ad were yon 1neiierf his cell? A Ve cl{&ghgg
. in front of the railingas of his cell. T don't know where we
were . |

Q You don't know where you were when Strouse came up? -4



B Ralialunt cp TS

2 ‘ : ' 93
No, I was dazed. 1 waen't paying attention to it.

Q And how often did you kick Schneider with your shoes, .
on his cot? | A No, T didn+t kick him.

Q How often did your cell mate, Firola kick him? A No,

. ' there wers no kicks, it was with the c}enchedlhania.

Q2 Can you explain to us how it was thét Eenny Schneider
got all these arrusioné, or breaks of the skin, on the body,
that the doctor told us about? A 1 5onft know. Vay be going
agalnet the railinge of the.cell.

Q Why didn't you tell the doctor about yoﬁr elbow? A
I iidn't want to bother the.iocﬁor, not knowing that it would
have ended so aeriou?. Had T known that, I would have told the

I doctor.

Q Is that the Dbeat reason you can give us? A Yes, s8ir,

No#-, what were you doing when you eay Schneider threw a g

cup at you? A T was placing my plate on the floor, after
breakfast.

. And what was it he said to you? A "What are you looking

at, you Dago sonof a bitch."
Ani how were you dressed at that time? A I only
L™ 4 had my undershirt on.

J What.did you eay when he said that to you? A 1 said,
*I'm not looking at you. 1don:t want any trouble, I'm a sickman."
Q And then what did he do? A And then ‘he threw this cup.

Q And was he in or out of his oell at the time? A He
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was ltcnding.fight in front of his cell.
Q Wgs your c;il to the rigﬁt or left of his? As ybu

:aoed tSe,oell? A Right 1# a straight line across. . P
Q When you are standing opteide of ‘the door on the tier,

— facin: the cell, is your cell to the right or left of Benny's . i

cell? A To the left (Illustrating).

Q Well, what 4idi you do when he threw the cup at yout? A

Then Tthrew the other saucer at him.

Q@ What 3id you throw at him? A An article éimilar to

that (Indicating People's Exhibit 2).

< Then'you threw a bowl at him? A Vég, from one cell

e

to the other.

‘@ Well, but the cells are side by side, aren't they? A

Yes

f" Kl »

alr.
2 And 413 you go outside of your cell to throw it at him?
A It was side by side, that I threw it at him, and, when I
\
wanted to throw it at him it hit the railinges and it broke.
& Well, where did the fragments fall? fnsiie or outside
of the cell? A It broke in froni of the railingto the cell

door.

N i Q Well,

that is out on the tier? A Vell, that I don't
Know.

Q2 Well, is it not on the tier, outaide»on the tier? A Yes,
alrx. i

Q Well, did the cup that he threw at you break? A Cer-
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tginli 1t broke.

s "~ Q And that broke in front of your cell, did 1t not? A

s

No, in front of his cell. ‘

Q Were you in front of his cell when he threw the oup at

- ydu? ‘A No, I was in my own cell, in front of my own cell,

L d

when the cup hit me.

Q  Oh, the cup hit you, did it? A Yes, certainly.

Q *And then 414 the cup break in front of your cell? A |
Yea, it broke afterwarde; it strck aftervardas on the railings
"and'it broke.
< And then where did the pieces lie? In ffont of your
cell or Schneider's cell? A All over ﬁhere. in ‘the neighbor-
hood. .
2 Vell, what hapuened-next? A Then we clinched and
ve fdught. He struck me in the mouth, and y got even my tooth
loosened.
Q Well, who struck the firet blow, after you threw a bowl
back at him? A Schneider first chinched with me and struck
me in the ﬁéuth with his fist.

‘R Well, who clinchdd first? A Both clinched together.

» Q And was all the fighting done outside, or did you get
into the cell at any time? A Right in front of ghe.ixon bars
there, not in the cell.

Q Did you at any time during the fight getinside of Schneid-

er's cell? A. FNo. |
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'jQ Did you eee nﬂ} biokenohinq_in Schneider's cell? A‘i%}

L

eir.

Q Did you, or Firola, or Vaestry, thfow any china at
Schneider in his cell? A No, sir.

MR. EDWARDS: That's all.

YR. PALMIERI: Well, wait a moment.
RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY YR. PALMIERI:

Q Didn't you say that you threw a bowl at Schneider? A

Yes, air.

Q And where were you when the -cup etrqok you? A It was
right in front éf ny cell.

Q@ And your cell is right near Schneider's, isa't it? A
Yes, sir. : ;

Q There ie only a couple of inches difference, is there
no t? A Yes, sir.

2 So that it ie right close to it, is tha@ right? A Yes,
sir.

« Now, where did the frazments of the cup that was thrawn

at you by Schneider go? A Right in front of my cell there.

Q And wher: did the fragments of the bowl that was thrown |

at Schrneider by you z0? A Right in front of his own cell.
BY THE COURT:
Q How far away were you from Schneider when youcthrew

the bowl at him? A Fror this witness ch&;r to that table.

(Indicating the Dimtrict Attorney's table).



' MR. PALVIERI: That's about four feet, Vr. Foreman?
THE FOREVAN: About that.

BY YR. PALMIERI:

Q And how far were you from Schneider when he first
threw the oﬁb at you? A That far. (Illustrating.)

¢ Just keep your hande that way for a.moment.

YR. PALVIERI: How many feet would you say that is?

THE FARE“AN: About four feet.
BY THE COURT:

<« Well, was he in his cell when you threw the. bowl aé him?
Was Schneider in his cell when you threw.the bowl at him? Yes
or no? A No, :

i Well, was he in your cell when he threw the cup at
you? A No. He was then outside.
EY MR. PALVIERI:

Q Now; what is the disease you havebeen duffering from?

YR. EDWARDS: I object to that.

THE ZOVRT:, Well,he has gone into that.

YR., PALVIERT : On the question of the ability to-—-

THE COURT: He has gne into that. He says he has tubercu- |
loeis. kd
BY WR. PALVIERI:

Q . And how long have you had tuberculosis? A Seven or
eight months. |

MR. PALVMIERI: . That's all.
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THE COURT: " Any other witnesses?

VR. PALMIERI: None, with the exception of that Austrian,

who wase discharged.
: rebuttal

THE COURT: Well, have the People any xaxdkxeak testinony?

MR. EDWARDS: Well, I am going to recall Schneider for a
minute. » »

THE COURT: Well, recall him. .I would like to finigsh all
the testimony, this afternoon, 80 that yoﬁ may sum up in the

morning.

—==0000000 ===
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BEN J AMIN 3 G HNE ID E R , being recalled by thog

Diltriot Attorney) teetifiod as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY YR. EDWARDS:

Q Now, Scnneider-——

". /R. EDWARDS: Now, before you close your case, Mr. Pal;

miéri, do.you want the testimony read? ‘

MR. PALVIERT: I have rested, and i will Yead it after-
wards.

THE COﬁRT' You have rested, you say, except for the teg-
timony of the .absent witneap?

VR. PALVIERT: "eg, 8ir; with that exception.

BY MR, rDWARDS:

« Schneider, did you at dny time call this defendant Napol-i
1t§no & aon of a bitch? A ‘No, eir. |

Q Did you go around, maring faces and noises a£ him, like
this "Poop" (Illustrating)? A Yo, sir.
BY THE COURT:

Q Dia yoglever call him a dago? A No, sir; vecause I
never bothered anybody.

THE COURT: Now, just answer the questions put to you; that

\‘ is all

BY YR. EDWARDS: ?

'Q Did you ever call Vaestry names, -or say anything to
- 05 AR WY Wl

BY THE COURT:
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Q Did you ever boast of the friendship of the Distriot

- Attorney? A I don't understand that.

Q Did you ever say that you were the District Attorney‘!;.ﬁ[

friend, and could do as you pleased? A No, siy,

CROSS EXAVINATION BY MR. PALMIERI:

Q How longz have you known the District Attorney, how long

have you gone from the Tombs to the District Attorney?

f " "WMR. EDWARDS: 1 submit that that has'all been covered.

b THE COURT: Yes, it has been covered.

BY MR. PALYIERI:

% And you are known on the East Side as "Nigger Benny8,

are you not? A Ves, ‘because I'm black.

! o

% 4. And any lixtle job that is wanted---

| MR. ‘PALMIERI: However, I withdraw that. 'You may go.

? THE COURT: HNow, I would like to finish all of tné testi-

? mony, tﬁ-day, and then each of you mav take half én hour in the
mroning to sum up and then it ray be submitted to the jury.

] VR, PAL"ITéI: The Dietrict Attorney will not permit me

: to read the testimony of the man who was discharzed yesterday.

YR. EDWARDS: On a specific condition. On condition tbat
wr

Vr. Palmieri will not rejquire me to calil the stenographer at the

former trial, who is the etenographer‘at this trial, amd that he
! &
will concede that the minutes which I read from in the croes ex-

amination of Vaestry are a correct transcript of the etenogrppher'i

e rp——

notes, and will perﬁit.me to read those portions of the tes-
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timony at the other trial into the record at this trial.
.'MRf éALVIERI: Yes, 1 80 concede. And then Iam to‘
read the testimony of Premer or Presser, the Auﬁtriaﬁ?
" YR. EDWARDS: Yes, you may read the direcﬁ éxaminaxion g
and T will read the c?oas exaﬁination.
(v, Palmiéri then read the direct examination of the wit-

1 >
ness and Vr. Edwards read the crose examination, as follows:)

MIKE PREWMER, of 407 Fifth Street, a witness called
on behalf of the defense, being duly sworn, teatified as follows:
DIRECT EXAVINATION BY VR. PAL"IEgI:
. Q Mr. Premer, you are an inmate of the City prison, you

are in jail? A Yes, ei. »

2 Your case wam't tried yet? A No, not yet.

) You have been in jail how many months? A About two
ronths. ¥

2« Were you there on the nineteenth of June last? When this
fight cccurred, wbre you in jail? A Yes.

@« In the City Prison, A Yes.

@

4 Did you see what took place there? A Yes, 1 seen.

Juest téll the jury in votr own way what you saw? A First

thing in the morning, when T started to walk, all the gates was
open, then I started to walk, and tneﬁ I meet that pguy there,
Frank. (Indicating the defendant “aestry).

Q Frank Vaestry? A Yes. He was in front to me, and I

was walking bebind him, and I heard somebody hollering, "Help,
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help." And he heard it and then he goee in the cell, and he

makes 80, like that "Don't foght". (Iliuatrat;ng)‘
. Q Do-you know how many péople were fightin. in the cell?”
A II don't know; I can't tell, because I passed therc.

you didn't count the peofde fighting in the éell? A No,
Just T eseen him,‘only be makes "Don't gight." kIlluatrating).

Q Before you saw Frank separate the people, where did you
hear the worde "Help, help" come from? A The 'first cell.

¢ Do you :inow whether that wae Schneider's cell? & No; I
1on;t know oha£ 

Q@ But you know it now?A Yes, Tknow it now, because I
heard somebody hol%ef1h5 "Help" and he heard it, and he getcin
firet and make the m separate.

@ Mr, Yaestry did? A Yes, I mean Frank.

2« Mr. Frank Maestry? A Yes.

Q@ Do you know who was hollering for help? A I don't
know who wae hollering for help, and then I éo'away ani them keep
ers come right away and just took ther felléwsa

Did you see ¥r. Strouse? Do you know the name of the
keepee® that came there firet? A VNo, sir; I don't know hie.naae.

GROSE8 EXAVINATION BY YR. ED"ARDS:

Q@ How long have you been in this country? A 1 an three
ard a half years. . ' A
Q@ Where iid you come from? A Austria.

Q What? A Austria.



Q Austria? A Yee; eir.

Q@ What part of Austria? A. It is Galicia.

Q And yhat do yoﬁ work ;t? A I work in a restaurant.

Q Where? A Uptown. |

Q Ani who was your last eWployer? Where was your last job?
A Uptown. .,

Q2 7ho did you work for? A 168th Street.

Q Far ‘whom? A V¥r, Enzgland, T think his ngme is.

< And how lon . did you work there? A 'Aoout two montﬁa.

) And how often have you been convicted of crime? A (No
answer ).

¢ Q Have you ever been convicted? A What do you meant

) Have you ever been tried for any crime and convicted for

it? A No; no trial yet.

BY THEE COURT:

o

first ti

Were vou ever in prison before? A No no; this is the

me. -

BY VR. EDVARDS:

b

YR.

When did ycu first meet Frank Vaestry? A(No answer).

EDWARDS: Can we have an interpreter? I think he will

understand the questions better.

THE COURT: Yes.

(Samuel Veratchnek is duly

BY VR. EDWARDS:

Q

sworn to act as interpreter).

Now, when did you first meet Frank Yaestry? A ~Which man




do you m&aﬁt

didn't bave any conversation with this defendant when I met him
firet. He was going first and I was going after him and then
the keeper opened the door, and then we heard some quarrel was
there.

EY THE COURT:

Q@ No, ihat 18 not responsive. He was acked when was ‘the
first t1m§ he ever gaw Frank Maestry. A The first time I saw
him in jail.

Q VWell, that day? How long before: the nineteenth of June?
A T couldn't tell you. |

Q How long vefore thg day on which this fighf'qccurradl A
About five days or a week. i
BY YR. EDTARDS:

Q What tier is your cell on? A Second.

Q And that is the tier on which all these defendantes and
Schneider and Rothman were on, too? A They were on the same
tier, but they waee on the end and I was on the other end.

Q@ Yhat was your cell nurber? A 229.

Q What time did this fight happen? A After eeven o'clok
in the morninge.
BY THE COURT?

Q ioll, how close to seveno'clock? A About fifteep min-

utes after =zeven o'clock.
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opened the cell at that time. That was seven o'clock in the
morning, and from that time ;until this occurred,-I 'think it was
only a quarter of an hour. |

BY VR EDWARDS:

Q And bad you finished ybur breakfast? A Yes, eir.

Q And were you out, taking a walk Hfter breakfast.? A
Yes, eir. |

Q Now, wﬁere were you walklﬁb when you saw Frank] A ‘Ihen:
[ left my cell I went from my cell up to the other corner, and
that's wh this quarrel come in.

Q ;ZZZT outeide of what cell were you when you saw Frank
Maestry, jumf a little ahead of you? "A DProm the first cell
from the other'corner. I think it was 213.

Q Wae that on the same side of the prison as 210, where
this fight was? A No, i was on this side and this happened on
the other end/ (Illustrating) e

Q Why, this happened at cell 210, didn't 1t? A About 310
or 218; I couldn't remember that exactly.

Q Were you standing at 212 when you saw this fiéhtT ALnE

was within about two doors from that cell when this happened.

It muet have been around 212. ‘ |

Q- And where did frank come from when you saw him? A Frank
walked ahead of me and I followed him.

‘Q Well, where wae Frank coming from? A Frank walked out |
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of his own cell, and he was ahed of me and I followed him.

Q VWhat was the number of Frank's cellY A I ocan't

remember that.

Q Alell, ien't it 2057 A Yes, about that.

Q Well, t{hat is nowhere heardglg, is 1t? A No, that was
away. He came frdm his own cell and he_had to walk around bew
fore he came to the other cell.

@ Did you see him coming out of the cell where the fight-
ing occurréd? A No, sir; (I seen him walking ahead of ‘me.

Q Vho was he walking with? A He waes alone.

Q Are you sure of that? 2 I am not positive of it.

Q Well, can you tell us who was with him? A No, Frank
was ahead of me, ndt far away, and when this fight'commenoed heb
tried to prevent this fight.

Q Now, please answer my questions, was anbedy walking wihh
Frank or wzae he walking alone,’when you saw him? A I couldn't
tell you.: I don't rememter.

Q' Well, what attracted yo;r attention to Frank? A 1
heard somebody hollering "Help, help."

Q@ And what 4id you do when you heiri that shout? A Frank
was ahéai of me, and he went in among the fighters and tried to
aééarcte them, one from the other.

Q Well, which was were you and Frank walking? A Frank
wae ahedd of me and I>was following him.

Q Well, in what direction was he walking? A Why, every
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one was walking in one direction, and he was with ue. "

Q ‘Now’ you say you iere near cell 213. Were you wnlkin¢ 
towards 310 or 2127 A ) 1 walked'gyay from there, and thenlwo.”ﬁ
went over to the Bridgé, and then the keeper came there and dia-"
banded us, %9}§Jug to get away. : ¢ »

Q Before you saw this fight, when you first heard the shout
"Help, help" were you walking towards cell 214 or towards cell
3107 A We walked---we passed the cell 219 at the time.

BY THE COURT: |

Q Well, dii you have your back to the cell that you heard
the cry from or were you lookin: towards that cell? A I had
to turn Aqay because the keeper told me to get away from there. '

Q No. But before the ke;por came there, when you heard
the cry "Help" there wag no.geeber there, was there? A No,
the keeper wasn't there.

Q Well, did tﬁat cry come from behind you or in front of you
A From in fropt of me.

BY “YR. EDWARDS:

Q And then you wenr right towards cell 210, did you? 4
Why do you want to know whether I went to 219 or 2107

A Well, did you walk towards the cell where the trouble
was or away from there? A I went away from there.

BY VR. EDWARDS:
Q Well, could you see anything that happqned, if you went

right away? A I have seen Frank. He wae ahedd of me and I
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have seen that he went in there and tried to separate them and ;

prevent thie fight. : ;b

e T

Q VWell, where did he go, in where? A Frank was tryine;fb
to separate them and I walked away.

Q. Well, where were they? A Right in front of the cell

where the fight occurred.

Q Well, what was the number of that cell, do you know. A
I couldn't tell you.

Q Whoee cell was 1it? ‘A They told me afterwards that the
man that tﬁey had a fﬁéht with was in the cell, but I don't know.

Q And you had been around there gn_;he Tombe' how long?

A About a week or so.

Q And who was in tbe fiéhtikhA All the people were fight-
ing. 1 couldn't tell their names. All that T could tell you
is that Frank was o;er there, trying to separate them.

Q Well, do you see in the court room now any one who was in
the fight? A No, sir.

< There ie not one of them in the Court Room, is there.

‘

A The only man I can tell ycu about ie Frank.

Q When did you and Frank first talk aﬁout this case togethe
A I didn't have any conversation with Frank, I didn't have any
dealings with him. ”

Q VWell, Ras he spoken to you at all since this happened on

this morning in June? A VNo, sir..

Q Well, how did he find out that you saw anything of this



| . i W.m“,,hiiii
Qt all? A I was, Hoddgy; in Court wRen my>trial Ise'tq t¢i§ i
Place; that's all.

Q No, I want to know how Frank Maestry found that you
knew anything about thie case. AA At the time #hen U came to
Court, the other day, and they told me my tri was postponed

to some other day, there was a man in cell 213, an asked him,

"What kind of a case has this Frank got?" And he said, "Don't

i

YOQ know that he was there at the time when there was figbiing
here?" And I told him that 1 was present ani saw that and I todd
him what 1 saw.

Q In what part of the Court were you when you met this man

"that you speak of? A In Part III.

Q When you'went to the cell with Frank,did you see any brok-
en dishes or cups? A After the fight was over, ygs.

Q Now, when you saw these people fishtine-that you say Frank
tried to aeparéte, did you see any broken ‘dizhes then? A No; I
didn't.

< Who wée the firsf keeper that arrived there? A I couldn'$
tell you his name.

Q Did you see more than one keeper come? A Two of them.

Q What was the name of the second one, ifAyou kpow? A I
couldn't tell you; I don't know,
BY THE COURT:

Q Who is &our cell mate? A Do you mean &t the present

time or what time?



©Q At this time? A Solomon Hoffman.

Q Well, who was your cell mate at that time? A The

sare one.

Q He 41dn't ses the trouble, .did he? A Mo, eirf-

Q He was in the cell, wis het A No, sir.

Q He was in the cell, was he? A Yes, your Honor.

Q What time in the morning was 1t? A About fifteen
niinutes af'er seven.

Q Well, who told you it was that time. A Because the
bell rings at seve; o'clock and we were let out at seven o'clodk
and it took only fifteen minutes before this thing happened.

Q Well, you ate your breakfast before you went out;
”didn't J;u? A I had had my breakfast. |

Q "ell, how long did you take. to ;;£ your breakfast? A(

A ‘About ten or fifteen minutes.

Q Well, are not all the bowls collected before you are'lo@
out? A No,
BY VR. EDWARDS:

Q Did you see Schneider after the fight was overt A They

ghowed me the man but I don't rerember what happened.

Q Did you see him go to the doctor? A No, I didn't.

Q Did you see Frank rizht afterwards? ‘A I seen when the j
keeper took him and locked him in the cell. .
Q Do you xnbw John Napolitano? A No, I don't.

Q You don't know him at all? A . No.



Q Did you see this man sitting there, Napolitano, that

o
.

day at all? A Yes, I seen him that day.
Q Did you see him on the 12th of June? A I couldn't tdll
you, I don't remenber.

Q Was he in that fighg? A I couldn't tell you. T don't
remerber. 1 don't remember anything except seeing Frank, and
they took me and locked me in the cell.

Q - Well, did you see Frank walking along in front of you?

¥R. PALMIERI: I object to that.
THE COURT: Overruled.
MR. PALVMIERI: Exception.

A - Then I have seen him, I told you, and I don't remember anything

more and I didn't see anything more.

4
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_HTHE COURT: Now,‘ihat'else are you going to fesd, ¥r. Ed- E
: {
3 S
VR. EDWARDS: On page 87 is the first one, in the erooo'
examination of Frank Yaestry, on the last trial, this queation“‘
and answer:

"Q Well, where were they, whereabouts? A Well,.at the
start, when 1 tried to avoii the trouble, they were right in
front of the cell; . They all went in in a body

R In where? A In the cell."

And on the_aamc page:, a little lower down, this quest ion and
answer: |

"Q Yee. The keeper, Strouse? A VYes, he tried to separd
ate them."

On page 88:

") Where was Napolitano? A They were in the cell, punch
ing at each oiher.“

On page 89, these questions and answers:

"Q You were in tgéfﬁ, weren't you? A Yes, I was trfing
to separate them.

"Q You followed them in to separate them? A 1 didn't

follow anybody. I seen four men right on the outside of the
cell, punching away at each other, and I tried to separate them,
ani they all fell in a bunch inté the cell."

THE COURT: Any further testimony onbeitpwv side, now?

¥R. PALVIERI: Yes,  your Honor,
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' THE,COURT: Those questions and answera were asked an:lun”o :

ed at the last trial, according to the People, énd the defendant 1*
denies that théy were asked and answered? ; l'?ﬂ

"R. PALVIERI: " Yes, sir, but T don't mean that., But I
want to show bv this very fecord from which the District Attorney
has read, first, that Benny Schneider gave different testimony on
the last trial in reference to the manvnamed'"ﬁocks" Cornell.

THE COURT: Well, where is 1t? '

VR. PALMIFRT: 1 offer in evidence the entir% evidence of

Eenjamin Schneider, from page 4 to page 30---to page 20.

THE COURT: I will not receive it. ' Now, you may take an
exception,
MR. PALMIERI: All right. 'I except. I also offer in

evidence the testimony of Abraham Rothman, the entire tégtimony.

THE COURT:" I will not receive it.

¥YR." PALYIERI: From page 24 to page---

T'HE COURT: Weil, you need not say what pages they are. I
will not receive it. The rule i, as you well know, that you

may show, on cross examiﬁation, that any witness has made dif-

ferent statements, at any other time or plac?,

VR. PALMIERI: T ‘have. N

THE COURT: You have n9t. Now, please don't interrupt me.
The proper way to ahoﬁ that is by confronting the witneeg with

the alleged statement that you think differe from the statement

made before.
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WR. PALVIERI: 1 have ‘done that.

THE COURT: No, you have not shown any contradiction in

the testimony.
VR. PALVIERI: ° And T except tb'your Honor's remarks.
o ; ' THE COURT: And T repeat it. You have not shown any
contradiction in thé testimony, such as to justify the Court.in
allowing you to put in that testimony; but, if you had, I‘would‘
have allowed you to put in those portione of his testimony. I
am not zoirg to have this case beclouded by any false iasﬁee-A

'

MR. PALVIERI: ‘How, I hope your Honor doesn't think that I
am doing .that.

THE COURT: Well, that would be the effect of letting in .‘
that testimony, unlese it was done in accordance with the rules

s evidence. The rule of lgv,'zentlgnen of the jury: is that you

are to pase upon the cfeiibility of witnecses, and, if any wits
ness has made a differing statement, from any statement made
bere, that must be proved, and the w;tuess must be confronted
with the alleged discrepancy, so0 that you may ‘determine whether

it is material 'or not. Now, I don't recall any discrepancy in

the testimony. There wae some testimony that you say, ”r:.Pal
mieri, they did not give before, but that ies not a jiacrebanéy,
it is not a éontraiiction.

MR. PALVMIERI: But a man can lie by withholding evidence

- as well as by etating evidipce.

* " THE COURT: Well, there is no evidence here that anybody
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liés in this case. I am not going to have ébo Jury decido

this case on your remarka} but on the evidence .alone, under the

instructions of the Court as to the law. Now, go on. Ii youv'
have any further remarks tc make of that kind I will answer
them. Now, point outrin the record the place'where youAclﬂim
there is contradiction. 0 .

MR. PALVIFFI: ‘ Yes, sir; on page 31.

THE COURT: You are referring now to page 317

MR. PALVYIERI: VYes, sgir. But T want ‘to put in the whole

: s
evidence. I want to show that he didn't say anytbhing of the
;ini. Now, your Honor knowe ghat I am not getting a cent in
this case, but only doing nmy duty.

THE COURT:  Now, the 3ﬁry will‘disregard that rerark. You
know thaﬁ it is the duty of an attorrney to do all that he can
legélly, in behalf of any oné whosg is his client, whether he
1; paid for his services or not. Now, if you will point out
thé'epecific place in the record as Mr. Edwards did, T will al-
low you to read it, but not otherwiee.

VR. PALVYIERI: On page 31: "Q---

THE COURT: "But what does_that contradict?

VR. PALVIFRI: 1t contradicts thathe didn't give the same
testimony on the last zrial..

THE COURT: I will exélude that. Where is the guestion
that you put to bhim on this trial,.ﬁnere he deniee giving the

sare testimony on the other trial? If 'you can point that out

.
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to the Coﬁrt,-you»may read 1t.

MR. PALVIERI: Well, he said, "1 didn't say, on the lut‘
trial, that Vaestry said, 'Kill him, kill him.'" And haven't .
I the right to show that be didn't say it. 1 can show it by

- the record. | ‘
' THE COURT: Well, then, do' 1%, if you dan. 7

WR. PALVIERI: Then T will read it.

THE CQUFTE Well, whose testimony are you speaking of?

VR. PALVIFRI: Rothman's teétivony.

THE COURT: Well, we must have no.confusion, abtout this. It
must be made perfectly clear to the jury. You first spoke of
pages 4 to 20 and now you speak of page 3d. You.muét make 1t

' clear to the jury what you desire to read.

MR. PALVIFRI: T will read thia—~;

THE COURT: Now, thie is Rothman's testimony?

MR. PAL"IFHI: Yes, sir.

Q@ Had you heard that expreseion used before they used it

now?"
THE COURT: ¥hat expreseion are you referringto?
VR. PALMIERI: Well T will have to read the expression
- there.

TEE COURT: No, but you éaii that he said on this trial,
"Kill him, kill hir", and that he did not say that on the last

trial.

MR. EDWARDS: And T submit that the counsel did noticall

¢



the witness's attention to any particular testimony.

"~ any statement or did anytbing, do so. A They stood right in

117

VR. PALMIERT: Yes, T did, and I read from the record,

too.

THE COUHT: Nor,.what did you call to his attention?

VR, PAL"fFRI: I called to hie attention this question---
now, let me find it, Judge---and T will fesi it to you. »I call-
to your Honor's attention these two questione

THE COURT: Well, read them.

BY VR. PAL"IP'F& 4

"

QA (By the Court:) Tf vou can name the individual who made

front of the cell, and they shouted out, "You rat".

"Q Did they all shout together? A NG sTEs th;a one |
(Indicating “aestry) He holletred out, 'You rat, you District
Attorney's man', and he was trying to get in the cell to beat
him up."”

VR. EDWARDS: But he didn't deny saying that. He said he
did say it, on the .last trial.

NMR. PALVIERI: Well, tut he saye he did say, on the last

trizl, "Kill him, killhim." And I want toehow that he didn't say
it. )
THE COURT: Weli, he gave the same teetinmony that you just
read; he ;ave it to-day. He alsad testified to that.
MR. PALVIERI: And T say he didn't say that at the last

trial, "Kill him, kill him."
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MR; EDWARDS: * I protest. The counsel should take the
stand and testify under oath as to trat, and subject himself-
to croes examination. .
THE COURT;‘ Now, T have the greatest respect for your
ability to defendmyour clienté, Mr. Pdmieri, hut‘§ou do not
seenm to underqtani the sitﬁation. I am rerely sa;ing-that you
prake it necessary for me to warn the jury aﬁainaz considering
anytbjng except the evidence, and that fhe statements of counsel
are not gviiehun, in any senee. The evidence zé the testimony,
gentleren of the jury, given Ly witnesses ﬁroducel on the stand
and sworn befo£ you; that is all. T have to repeat that con-
stantly on account o your habit of repeating things which you
th}ieve to be in the record, and which we do not findnin the
‘record.
MR. PALVIERI: Well, I-believe that T have establibhed
to the satisfaction of your Honor that this man has not said on
the last trial tha.t-"ae'stry_ eaid "®x K11l him, kill him.", even
if it isn't in the record. »

THE COURT: Then if it ien't in the recéri, you cannot = |
prove. it by the recordf %;Agﬁ
¥R. PALMIERI: Yes, of course, if it iep't iﬁ the record. X

Tbat's,thg aobky way I can prove it, and it is my miefortune. I
ar against a prosecutor ;f long experience, but I have your Honor

- and the Jjury to protect us.

THE COURT: Now, there is no one who mamxex wénta to»deprch
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your élienta of any rights at all. They are éimply entitled
to a fair trial, which means a legal trial, and not £o trial
by any sﬁeclal system. The lawe are fair and liberai. Now,
if you claim that either of these witnespes ewore, to-day, that
‘they said things which tbey did not say aﬁ the last triai,.the
District Attorney will etipulate that they do not aprear in
the record, I suppose.

MR. PALVIERI: And that's all T want. ,W111 you stipulate--i

THE COURT: Now, one thing at a time, Wr. P;lmieri. That
ioint'is establighed, But what Vr. Edwarde 4id x&zx wae the pro-
per method. He rereated the question and answer to the wit-
ness, and the witness sald point blank, that he never -esaid those
things. And then it would be proper to call any one who heard
him make thqge'etatemente, or rzad the record, as was done here,

to obviate calling the stenographer. . No-favor was shown to

‘ the District Attorney that wae denied to you. The same course
is open t0 you, but you claim,to-day that he said sorething here,
to-day, that he did not say at the last trial.

MR. PALVIERI: And T have proved it.

THE: COURT: No. The jury will disregard that remark. You

bhave not proved anything of the kind. But it does not mean that
it is not in come part of the record, and you may call the steno-
grapher to the stand tomorrow, and ask him to produce his notes,

‘ ' and require him to read the whole record, if you desire it.
| id i

;

i

A MR. PALVIERI: Perhaps Yr. Edwarde wiii‘concede it.
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MR. EDWARDS: Well, I would like to read the recofd oqroF i

fully myself before I enter into such a‘atipulatioh.

VR. PALMIERI: I &now he didn't say it; I will a£ake ol
my whole case on thét.

THE: COURT: ' No, the case ?111 net be determined on any
isolated statement or bart of. the testimony. It must be decided |
on all the evidence, gentleren of the jury.

MR. PALMIERI: Then the case is closed with the exqeption
af that Vr. Edwards will read the entire record, tonight, and
determine what he will concede?

MR. EDWARDS: .Well, I will read the minﬁtes, overnight, .
and determine what_T can properly concede., if anytping.

(The Court admonished the jury in accordance with Section

415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, -and adjourned the further

trial of thecaseto Thursday morning, August 12th, 1915, at

-==0000000=~~
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THE PEOPLE VS. MAESTRY AND ANO.'

TRIAL RESUVED.

New York, August izth. 1915. ;
THE COURT: Vr. Palmieri, I believe it.is your word aw P

VR. PALV RI ¢ Youf Honor, last evening, the learned pros-
ecutor sald that he was going to read the evidence of”V}. Ro th-
man, for the purpose of learning whether he, on the first trial--

THE COURT: Well, Iixnow all about that.

¥R. DAL”IERE? I wish to learn whe%her he has read 1t.

VR. EDWARDS: 1 have. And, if counsel will state what he
wants, I wiil perhaps concede what he waptse.

THE COURT: Well, He claims that Rothman 414 not say that
the defendant Vaestry said "Kill hém, kill him," on the last
trial.

YR. EDWARDS: ' A; I understani the counsel's request, it
ig this. At page 32 o?'tgia trial, Rothman said, 1n.aﬂever to
a question, ﬁhat Vaestry said, "Go on, kill him." "He's a Dis-
trict Attorney's man" and counsel wants to Ln&v whether T will
concede that the words "Kill him" were not.ueei in the first
trial by Rothman, and I do concede it.

THE COURT: Then that is setiled. =

ﬁR. PALVMIERI: I alsc ask the District Attlrney whether he
ureal the evidence of Bennie Schneider on the first tria}, yes-

terday, aniVI want him to copcede that Bennie Schneider never sal(

a word on the last trial about his havin; heard a conversation, -
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or a remark, from "Rocks" Cornell.

THE COURT: Well, will you make that concession?

VR. EDWARDS: Véa, sir. He eaid on his cross examination
that he didn't say it. He saii 80 himself, and that is better
than a concession.

MR. PALMIERI: Very well, And now, your Homnor, I want to
offer in evidence the recor; of acquittal of a witness for the

defense, who testified here yesterday. His name is Michael

Presser.
THE COURT: Not yeeterday, at the last trial, you mean?
VYR. PALVMIERI: Yes, sir. But we usedi him,,K yesterday, as

a witness for the defense, with the permission of your Honor and
the District Aftorneg, by reading his tgetijony which was given- 
uﬁder oath before the jury at the other trial.'

YR. EDWARDS: Yes, we read it yeéteriay to the jury.

THE COURT: Tell, a charge arvounts to nothing, Yr. Palmler
-~--it is only a conviction that may be used to affect credibil-
lty.' I will exclude it as immaterial, irrelevant and incompe~
tent. It will be conceded that he has been acquitted since

he testified, is that so?

YR. EDWARDS: Yes, eir; I conceded yesterday he had beén
discharged. ] ; :

THE COURT: But ‘you have no right to ask any question of
any man if he has been arrested, becausa any man may be arrest-

ed and gharged with a crime. There is no moral obliquity on
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that account, di‘there should be no stain on a man'e oharnotcx"
on-thaf account. It is only a conviction that may be consider-
ed.

MR. PALMIERI: . I now wich to renew the motion; that I made
at the close of the People's case, and urge the same grounde
which T urged then.

THE COURT: Denied.

MR. PALVMIERI : Exception.

T™E COHRT:‘ There i3 a question .of fadts here for the

jury, to be decided by the jury.

VR. PALVIERI: Exception. And T suppose your Honor will
not liﬁit me as to time, because I wish to do justice in thiﬁ
case. _

THE COURT: Yes. We all want to do justice, but T think
you can discuss the evidence in half an hour.

’ MR. PALVMIERI: Yes, 8ir; about that. But your Honor will
have a little patience with me if T should take a little longer.

THE COURT: ‘- Why, of course. I have to be patient with you,
Mr. Palmieri.

(Vr. Palmieri sumred up for the defense)

(During the summing up of Vr. Palmieri:)
THE COURT: Now, gentlemen of the jury, the interruption
of the District Attorney was entirely proper. It is your duty

to take the law from the 'Court.. You are the judges of the facts,

and the facts are to be gained from the lips of the witnesses.

v
Y
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It is not & fact in this case that -one juror stood out on

the other case. iy o

VR. PALVIERI: I never said that.

¥R. EDWARDS: Yes, fou did.

THE COURT: If you interfupt‘me again, I'will punigh you.
for contempt of Court, ¥r. Palmieri. Now, you may spegk when I
have finished.

F"R. PALVMIERI: All right.

THE COURT: I say to yéu, gentlemzn of the jury, that an
atterpt is Deing made to have you iisregari.your oathe of office,
and disregard the law and the eviden:e.vani be swayed by eympathy
or prejudice; and it is you; sworn duty not to be swayed by eymf
pathy or prejudice. It is your duty to‘diacuss this matter cool-
ly and calmly, in the light of the law as the Court will give
it to you, andi the eviienge as youfind it from the lips of wit-
nesses, and the statements of counsel should receive no consider-
ation whatever, unless they are borne out by the evidence in this
case. Comients on the evii;n:e may be properly made by the
counsel, and should Be ;ive: such consideration as you think they

are eéntitled to receive. I do not care to say anything more at

this tine, but, if counsel again offemis, T will be obliged to
say more to you. PNow, Mr. Palmieri, you.nay take an exception
to my rgmarko, and go on with your euwmiﬁg up. I will give you
fifteen minutes more. You have had twenty-five minutée now .

,“‘vaf PALVIERI remained seated.)
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THE COURT: Well, do you wish to close now, or go on?
MR. PALVIERI: I desire to answer your Honor's remarks to

this jury.

THE COURT: I do not want any answer, and I will not toler-f
ate any gnswer. .

VVR. PALMIERI: .Wéii, your Honor charged me---

THE COURT: Do you wish me to co;rit you for contempt, Mr.
Palmieri?' You may go on with the case, and you may take an
exception to my remarks, and that protects you fdlly, and your
clients.

¥R. PALMIERI: Then your Honor refuses to permit me to eay
whaﬁ Idid say to this jufy{ and have me borne out by this juiy?

THE COURT: No, sir; I will not bave any controversy with
you. *

MR. PALVIERI: Then I will not say another word.

THE COURT: Very well.

VR. PALMIERI: ‘And Talso wish to take an exception to the
Judge's remarks, which were as follows: "I will teach you that
you will not make a farce of this trial."

THE CQOURT: . Yes. Now, go on, Mr. Edwards, if Mr. Palmieri

doesn't wish to continue.
(Mr. Edwards then summed up for the People).
YR, PALMIERI: I object to the statement of the Distrioct

Attorney that Ferone is not produced here as a witness upon thie

trial. ; b :



VR. EDVARDS: I diin't say that, sir. |

THE COURT: One minute, Mr. Eiwarde, one at a time. I do
not want any interruptions. Now, Mr. Palmieri, it is your -
turn. Please begin again, and you must not be interrupted.

"R..PALVIERI: & ask your Honor to inetruct the jury that
Ferrone being under indictment, and being represented by a dif-
ferent lawyer, that I couldn't get‘him here as a witness, and
that any allusion to Ferone‘in ﬁhis case 18 improper, unfa;r.and
un just to fhese iefendants. ‘

THE COURT: The law declares that, when a witness is jﬁat
as accessitle to the ‘District Attorney as he 'is to-¥gg!M£g“pn-
favorable inference can be drawn by the jury againét eithervsiie.
Tﬁ‘ Dis;;;ct Attorney could have called him or you could have
“éalaei him, if you had desired, and no!inference may be drawn
on aécount of the failure to cgll hiragainet either gside.

.:R.,PAL"IFEI: But that's not the point. We c¢laim that
we coulin't compel him to tesatify for us, because he was under
indictment.

THE COURT: Yes, and that applies to either side. If a

witness 1s within the sole control of one side, then the failure

of that side to produce himwouli be a circumstance tha£you may
consider, gentlemen of the jury, but when he 1s equally accessble
to eitﬁe; side, neither eide can be blamed for not producing him.

YR. EDWARDS: .Now, may I stave on the record what 1 did say?

THE COURT: Yes.
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"MR. EDWARDS: 1T made no reference to anybody failing to"
call him ag a witness, I merely said that he ﬁas not called as

a witnese, and that the jury had not seen him, therefore, and

THE COURT: Well, the association of this. defeniant Na-
politano with Ferone aé a cell mate was not a voluntary associa-
tion. They were put in the same cell by the keeper, ani‘he
couldn't choose hie cell pate, andi there should be no reference
made to Fefone, except as to what he nay have said or done, as
toid in the testimony given by the witnesses. Now, please
proceei, Mr. Edwards.

(¥r. Edwards pfoceeiei with hie summing up.)

' didn't :wish

VR. PALVYIERI: Your Honor, I &mzixs/to interrupt the /
Proﬁecutor wﬁilé he waé talking to the jury. Unfortunately, his
address was not taken down. He stated to this jury, and mis-.
quoted the evidence, which T now aek your Fonor to call the at-
tention of the jury to, that that is a misquoting of the evi-
dence; he etated that the Dgctor of the Tovbs‘exa'inei Napolitano
and found a bruise on kig'nouth. 1 ask your Honor to'state to

the jury that the evidence of the Doctor is that there was no

bruise of any kind on Napolitano at-all, and he was flatly con-
tradicted byl"r. Strouse, who was there first, and first saw
Napolitano, and that is the evidence-in this case.

THE COURf: Very well. Tnenjury will be guided by their

own recollection of the testimony, and, as I said before, gentle-

DA



R
SN

e

2 4 ’
L L — r -

R 5 o 2 4 P s

. ¥ o ¥

‘ 128
men, you must not be influenced by any statement of counsel

concerning the evidence, unless it agrees with your own recol-
lection of the testimony, and is, in your opinion, a proper com-

ment -or deduction therefrom. Now, you will please be seated,

Mr. Palmieri.

MR. PALMIERI: I have a request to make. \
THE COURT  Pleaseé be seated. You had an opportunity
afforded you to sum up, and you refused to do it. I will not

give you another opportunity.

MR. PALVIERI: I except.
THE . COURT: At the proper time you may submit your re-
quests to charge. It is now ny duty to address the jury.
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THR COURT’S CHARGR.
- MULQUERN, ¥:
gentlemen of the Jury, ‘

It is alleged that the defendants committed an iluult upon .
)onjnnn gchneider with their hands and feet, and with a weapon
or instrument to the grand jury unknown, but that it was a weapon
or thing likely to produce grievous bodily hﬁ, and that they
did, in fact, inflict grievous bodily harm upon him,

It was further. charged in the indictment that they intended-
to kill gechneider, and s0 the grand jury charged them with as-

sault in the first degree.

It is the duty of the gourt :Y instruct you in the law, and
I say to yoix that, as there was not uuffiéient proof thtlthc
defendants intended to kill scﬁn;iaor, if you find that they
did assault him, I havg taken that degree of the crime from your
consideration, and I shall submit the case to you as one of as~-
sault in the second dégree or assault in the third degree.

I deem it proper at this time to tell you that this is not

an action between Benjamin gchneider and yprank Maestry and John !

Napolitano., The case is entitled wrhe People of the gtate of
New York ve. prank Maestry and John lapolitmo.l' That term,
"pooplo of the gtate orblu York,wmeans organised society in this
gtate. It embraces all the human beings within the borders of

this gtate. They have united in s governmment or society or
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union, to protect their lives, their liberties and their property

from unlawful mtorfcronoo on the part of others, vhey have
the right to make laws to accomplish those ends, and they have
made such laws. The condition imposed by that ,uociot'y on all
who 1live in this gtate is that they must mot unlawfully inter-
fere with others, and, if they do so, they will be. treated as
eriminals.

Now, that is not a hard condition. It merely says that
every man must ﬂe permitted to work out his own salvation, with-
out any unlawful 1n£erferenoolfrom others, Tho'law that has bo‘u
made on that point is no'plain that it really is not necessary
to call it to your attention, but I shall read 1£ fto you, because
the law puts the burden on the court of telling you the l;w.

Theré are two duties that the gourt has to perform in a
ériminni trial; Tirst, to see that the defendants have a fair
trial--~that is, the paramount duty of the gourt---and, secondly,
to instruect the jury in the law applicable to the c¢ase, You
are made the sole and exclusive judges of the fact, and of the

credibility of witnesses, and you are sworn to view the tes~-

timony in the light of the law, and with an honest determina-

tion to be animated solely by a desire to do your duty,

The defendants nave had a fair trial, They have been re-
presented by crunsel, and every latitude was extended to counsel
in the selection of a jury. They were confronted with their

accusers. They were given the right to appear before you, and



' nmot a trial made to order to suit them. The pistrict.sttormey .

tell you their stories, to call witnesses in their own behalf,

to have fair rulings made om the law, and all that has been

done, and that is all that they are entitled to, a fair trial,
of this gounty is not on trial. Our laws are not-on trial,

These defendants are on trial, according to, and pursuant to. our.
laws, and it is for you to say whether the law, which is not dis~-
puted, and cannot be disputed, which is so simple, has been
broken, and whether that fact is established by the evidence, in
the manner required by law,

Now, that is all there is in this case,

gection 242 of the Penal Law reads as follows:

A person who wilfully and wrongfl;lly woﬁndé or inflicts
grievous bodily harm upon another, eithef with or without a wea=-
pon, is guilty of assault in the second degree,"

~ The gourt, of its own motion, said that there was no proof
here t.hat gfievouﬁ bodily harm had been inflicted by these de-
fendants. That would reduce the crime to assault in the third
degree, if any assault was committed; but there is another sec~
tion of the law which alyi, '.‘ person who wili’ully‘ gnd wrong=
fully l'lliultl another by the use of a .wéapon, .or'ot.hor instru-
pgt or thing likely to produce grievous bodily h‘rm. is guilty
of assault in the second degree,"

The People claim, and there hné been testimony glven here,

that things, similar to two pieces of crockery in evidence, Peo-

-
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Ple*s gxhibits 1 and 2, namely, the bowl and cup used in the

Tombs, were used by.these defendants wilfully and wrongfully

against gochneider, and that those things are likely. to produce " !
grievous bodil& harm, if hurled at another from a distance of
‘' four feet or four and a half 'feet, as Napolitano testified, and
that the hurliﬁg of those thirigs by Maestry and Napolitano, if
they were engaged in the aesau1£, was assault in the second de-
gree. It is also alleged- that they used their feet in assaulte~
ing Stheider,vthat they xicked him, and it is for you to say
whether the shod foot of a man is a thing likely t, produce
grievous bodiiy harm, |

' Thefefore, you understand the issues in this case. It is
for &ou to decide from the evidence whether tliere was an assault
cormitted by'any one~=--that in‘the firét thing---and, aecondly,.
was the agsault which 1s ailege& to have been committed upon gchny
der by hurling a bowl or cup at him a criminal act, or was it a

Justiflable act.
Rvery assault is not a criminal act., rhere are circumstan-
ces under whichk men have a right to commit an assault, gection

246 of the Penal Law provides as follows:

wro use or attempt or offer to use, force or violence upon
‘br towards the person of anothsr, is not vnlawful in the follow-
ing cases!:

#3. when cormitted either by the party about to he injur-
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- ed, or by another person im his aid or defense, "n preventing

~or attempting to prevent an "oft\onu against his pondn, ior .

trespass or other unlawful interference with real or personal
property in hii lawful pbl-bluioﬁ, if the force or violence used
is not more than sufficient to prevent such offense.," “

. The first part of that dofipition is what concerns you. If
there was an assault committed by Maestry and Napolitano, it was
nbt unlawful, if it was committed by them when they w@ro about
to be injured by the complaining witness, and if they comitf.d
this assault in their own aid or deéfense, imn p;eventing or at-
tempting to prevent such assault,

It is for you, first, to fix the grade of this orime, If
the weapons or things used by these defendants were such as are
described in the gtatute, likely to produce grievous bodily harm,
then they are guilty of assault in the second degree, unless their
act was justifiable, under that provision of th; law which I have |
read to you, A man would have no right to use an instrument or
thing likely to produce grievous bodily harm against another for
a mere verbal insult, If you should be insulfed, or called

names, or a man ghould make noises with his mouth against you,

you might have a right to use your fist against him, but you
would not have any right t; use a knife or pistol, or a bowl or
cup 11fo that 1# evidence, if you think that it is a thing that,
if hurled -i another per.on,”ut a distance of four feet, might

\

inflict grievous bodily harm. £\
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 If assault in the third degree was comnmitted here, provo=

- eation, such as the oalling of names, might be a justification.

A man is not required to submit to verbal abuse in a place where v "
‘he has a right to be, That is the law of the gtate. whe man
"h‘o'aoou that te you runs the risk of being punched, at least. ]
put the law does not justify a man im using, under those circum-
stances, a knife or pistol or any weapon or thing that might nﬁu
the inflietion of serious or grievous bodily harm,

It is your duty to decide the facts. I have not formed
or expressed any opiniom in this case, You will bear me out in
that. I have not disclosed by my attitude what I think of the
case. It ig not my duty to do so. I have sought to hold soun=
sel on both sides down to a proper discharge of their duty., I
cannot allow any counsel to make a farce of a solemm legal pro=
eeeding, to do things that he knows to be wrong and against the
law, i

put you must not be influepced against these defendants by
anything that wn; said or done by counsel on either side in this
case. The facts are to be found by you only from the state-

ments of witnesses, As I told you, the statements or argu-

mets of counsel, concerning things which are not in evidenoce,
or things which should not be brought to your attention at

all, or which 4o not aeceord with your recollection of the
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testimony, should receive no consideration from you, unless the

comment on matters im evidence agree with your recollectiom of
the evidence, and are proper deductions therefrom,

The law you must take from the gourt, I say to you that
these men had no right in law to assault gchneider because
schneider gave evidence to the pistrict pttorney. That was
probably the best thing that gchneider ever did in his ;He.

It is not claimed here that gohne ider was an angel, ll§ is a
murderer, He hnsvpleaded guilty to'manslAaughter. put he 1;

to be ogmended, and 'ﬁot punishéd, for aiding the law in other
cases, and certainly no inmate of the pombe has a right to. take
the law into his own hands, and punish him for being of assist~
ance to theAlav, 1nsteéd of a law breasker, mhe quest\il‘on for
Ayou is vhether they did assault nhim or not, or whether he
assaulted them, because, if a man be the aggressor in a fight,
he cannot claim the right of self defense, If gchneider hur:‘Lod
a bowl a' these ;nen, asthey ‘s&y, or at either of them, or a :
cup, if the fight began in that; #ay, by gchneider hurling a bowl

or cup at them, acquit them, or, if you have a reasonable doubt

as to how the fight begam, acquit them, because the law regards
them as innocent men, until you find them guilty, and the evi-
de.nco' is to be viswed from that standpoint; and, no matter what
their character is, or how vile they may be, they are entitled to
the protection of the law, The law makes no distinection. there

is no man so powerful as to:be beyond the power of the law to
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reach him, and no man so humble or vile that the law will mot
protect him in his lawful rights.

80 that, undof our law, a defendant in a criminal action
- .1g presumed to be innocent, and he must‘be acquitted by the jury,
unless the evidence---remember, the evidence in the case, not-ﬂww
‘ ata;emcnia of counsel, not éppeals to passion or prejudice--
unless the evidence in the casc satisfies you, beyond a reason=
able .doubt, thut he hé violated the law'in the manner charged
in the indictment, :

. The gourt has endeavored to do its dubty, to see that these
defendants had a fair trial, Now, it rests with you to dociﬁo
the factse How are faclis proved?  Not by statements of counsel
on either side, and what I say applies to the lawyers on both
sides, but by the statements that Tall from the lips of witness~
es produced here hefore you, or whoué téatimony has been read in
evidence by stipulabtion.

If there is a cnnflic: among the witnesses, you must de=
cide between them if you can, In *the discharge of that duty,
your judgmenti is supreme, you havu‘no master, rhe court has

not sought %o control your action, The court would not do you

the great injustice of deeming it possible that any one could
contirol Qou inhfindins & verdict thaé did not satisfy jour

own Jﬁdémcnt and eonscience, I believe that you will take the
law from.tho‘court, and tﬁut ybﬁ‘will honestly and faithfully

i carry out the oath that you assumed when you went into that Jury
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box. I thimk it proper for me to remind you, after all that
‘has been said here, that the work that you are doing is the most

important that a citisen is called upon to do im a republie, in
time of peace. In time of war, you might have to leave home and
friends and tusiness, and risk your iifo for the gtate, In time
of peace, there is war on crime always going on, You are enlist-
ed, this month, not on one side or the other, but to npho].d
the law, which means to »glive ‘honest verdictl_, according to the
law as the gourt given it to you, and according to the Tacts
tostified to by the witnesses,
You are the sole and exclusive judges of the witnesses, and
_ of their credibility. ‘
The wrd credibility means worthiness of belief, wyhat ,Iﬂ:-
. nesses here, in your opinion, were worthy of belief, and vh-t'
facts have been established by their testimony? That is a ques~
tion you must decide for yourselves, Ask your own reason and
your own conscience Annd your bolm Judgment,
There is no claim on eith r side that you receive any
special inspiration, or that your minds are any better, or your

Judpgment any clearer, when you sit as jurors, than you possess,

or that exists, when you are Qttending. ¥ . v yusiness or other

uport.-nt duties of ordinary Ameriean citizens, You should

banish every thought of prejudice, on the one hand, or of sym-

. pathy on the other, fThe law cannot fix any arbitrary way in

whick you ghould do your duty. It mey be helpful for you to

N\



People, gchneider, has been convicted of crime, of serious crimes.

to the jury for their consideration, and you must determine whe-

consider the manmer of the witness in giving his testimeny, pid
he impress you as telling a iruiﬂful, fran'.tory, or not? Or

was his manner on cross examination different from his manmer

on direct examination? Did he impress you as truthful or not?

Was the story that he told reasonable and probable, in your gpin-
ion? what was his interest in the controversy, if any, what re-
1atlona§h1p does he bear to the matter?

Has Schneider . invented tﬁia story for revenge, or was he
really assaulted in the way he says?

You may consider the chsracter of the witnesses. che de-

fendants.have been convicted of crime, rthe witness for the

The other witness for the Piople has not been éonviotod of
crime., One of the witnesses for the defense, Pr;suor, hulvﬁoen
indicted on & charge, but he was subaeducntly discharged, I
do not recall, at this moment, whether he had been convicted
of any crime or not., put the law permits criminals to tes-
tify, gt does not deprive them »f the right to testify, aad

their testimony is competent and admissible, and it is submitted

ther it is credible in this particular case or not, or whether
it is unworthy of your belief., That is something that you must
do in a quiet, patient manner, not arbitrarily, and not act

fro--mnlico, or under the influence of prejudice, but calmly,
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' quietly and judiecially.

It may aid you in deciding the question to comsider whether

the poéplo who have not_boon convicted of crime, who are inmates
of the Tombs, not because they have broken the law, or are charge:
w ith breaking the l;w, but are engaged there in éarning>ln hon~
est livelihood, the keéepers, whether their testimony corroborates
one side or the other, or whether the physician®s testimony cor-
roborates one side or the other,

It is always proper on cross examination to call the atten~
tion of a vitn?ls to any alleged contradiction in his test imony;
that is, it may be shown that he made different statements else-
where. There has been a great deal of reforano made to another
trial here, but you must not give any con;idoration to any other
trial than this. This trial stands by itself, whether there
was more or lo;s evidence given here is not for you to speculate
~upon. The jurors in the other trial, we will assume, did their
duty as they believed, and you must do your duty as you see it,
and there should be no reference to the‘oiher trial, except on

one point; and that is, if any witness here made different state-

ments at the last trial, it would be proper to call the alleged
contradictory statements to h;a attdn;ion, so that he might fx-
plain them, or admit or deny that he ever made the staé:unnt-,

and it would be for you to l;y, if it was shown that he had made
_coniradictory statements, how much weight you should give to

tq*f contradiction, whether it would be of such a nature, in .
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your opinion, as to cast a doubt on all of his testimony, so

.as to show you that the story was manufactured; or whether it

' . Was an oniuion to make a statement, because a queltion was not

asked, or a failure to remember some details which might hnn
been testified to, if his attention had been cslled to it, In
other words, you must determine whether or not there is any con-
tradiction, and, if there is, what weight, if any, you will
give to the alleged contradiction, In other words, you are
the sole judges of the crodibility of the witnesses, in'd you
may consider the things that I have mentioned, their manner,
f:heiri‘intereut, their motive, the fact of their charao‘trr, and‘
give their testimony the weight that you think it is entitled
to in view of all the surrounding circumstances in the cué.‘

I do not think there is nnythifxg else that I need say to
you; the law is plain, If they wilrully and wrongfully assault-
ed gchneider with a thing likely to produce grievoua bodily harm,

they are guilty of aanault in the second degree, If they began

~the controversy by throwing this bowl at him, or in any other

way, they are guilty of assault in the second degree, If you
find that they did throw the bowl at him, but that gchneider

began the 6ontrovorsy, they are not guilty of any orime, that

‘48, if you find that gchneider hurled a bowl at them, as they

say, before they threw anything at him, ©Now, if you think
that that bowl or that cuv could not producov grievous bodily

harm, if thrown by & man such as these defendants are, at a




distance of four feet, still it would be assault, if they threw
it wilfully, and wrongfully at gchneider, whether it hit him

or not, but the degree of the crime would be assault in the

third degree. 850 you have got to decide on the character

of those things. It is admitted that they were thrown by the
defendants~---not these particular things in evidence, because
the things they threw we:o smashed~~-but t_hingn identiecal in
svery respest with thess. | Tf Fou think Gat gricvess Hadily
harm could not be inflicted with one of those articles, and that;
a blow from one ofil thoqe articles was not likely to produce
grievous bodily harm, then you may acquit them of assault in

the second degree, and go to assault in the third dogreo;

80 your verdict should be guilty of assault in the second
degree, or guilty of aylnult in the third degree, or not guilty,

ﬂmro was a ohli'g. in the indictment that they were indict-
ed as second offenders,

" MR, RDWARDS: I withdrew that;, your Honor,

THR COURT: 8o that part of the chsrge is withdrawn rr;)n
you, And yo;l understand that you can find one of these men
guilty, and the other not guilty., Napolitano says he threw the
bowl., If that act was criminal, he is ruponaibio for it, but
Maestry would not be _re.ponsila,for it, if he was merely act-
ing as a peacemaker, but, if he urged on the fight, if he in-
stigated the attack, if he did as gchneider and Rothman say |

he did, called them these names, and went into the cell to




help in the assault, he is oquaiiy guilty, If you have a
reasonsble doubt on that proposition, you must acquit him,

The evidence must -atinfj you beyond a reasonable doubt that
Masstry took part in the assault, if any assault was commit-
ted, and, if he did, he is equally guilty with Napolitano, If
he did not, if he was a po;oo maker, 6r';f you have -.rcllonablo
doubt about that, you must acquit him, If &ou have a reasonable
doubt as to whether Nspolitano was justified, then you should
acquit him, A

In other words, the law regards them as innocent, until

they are proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt,

 What does that term "reasonable doubte mean? It does mnot
mean ;n unreagonable doubt; it does not mean that the People must
produce a moving plcture or a phonographic record of nil the
acts and statements im evidence, but the evidence must convince
you beyond a reas-mable doubt that the defendants are guilty,
before you can convict them,

A reasonable doubt is not based on sympathy for a defendant,
or prejudice against the complainant, or a desire to avoid doing
your duty.

counsel told you how much depended upon your verdict, You
have no right to oonniﬁor that. It would be a great wrong to
condemm any innocent man; it is just as great a wrong to let a
}gntlty -ui go; gdd v a guilty man I mean a man concerfiing whose

guilt the evidence satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt,
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g0 that you are not concerned with the result of your

verdict. The question for you should be, wyhat is the law as

the gourt gave it to us? Has it been shown by the tistw
of the witnesses here that he broke that law? ,m T firmly
convinced, as an ho.nest man, that they did what they are cherged
- with doing?" If so, it is not your fault that some consequcnces
may be meted out to them, It is in the power of the gourt
to let them go free, or to punish them, as he thinks they ought .
‘to be punished. Put you must not consider that. Just take the
law and the evidence, and, if you believe from the ovidénco, be~
yond a reasonable doubt, that they are guilty, say so, and fix the
degree of the crime. If you have a reasonable doubt of their
guilt, acquit them. :

Any r;queut- now, Mr, Palmieri?

MR. PAIMIRRI: Your Honor has inadvertently said to this
Jury that it is admitted that the defendant threw the bowl,

THE COURT: Napolitamo says he threw the bowl,

, MR, PALMIERI: Par&on me, Judge. I ask your Honpr to say

to the jury that the evidence of gchneider, and the evidence of

Rothman, is to the effect that Maestry never had any cup or

bowl, and never threw any cup or bowl.

THRE COURT: There is'no testimony that he threw a bowl. I
say that Napolitano admitted that he threw a bowl, but, if Maes-
try was oonc.orn'od with him in the attack, he is responsible for

his acts; but, if he was a mere peace maker, he is not guilty.
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“

MR. PAIMIRRI: T ask your Honor to charge the jury that the
mere fact that Napolitano admits throving'tho bowl, after a eup |
of a -_1511.:- kind and character of crockery had been thrown at
him, that doesn't mko him guilty of assault in any degree,

THR COURT: I have told the jury plainly that, if the
cup was thrown first by gchneider, they must acquit him,

MR, PAIMIERI: Yes, sir; I ask your Honor to tell them that,
in considering the evidence of Napolitano on that'aub.j ect, they
may take into consideration the mute evidence of a broken cup
in the corridor, just where he was standing at the time of this
alleged fight.

THRE COURT: T decline to so charge, There is no statement
in the evidence that there was broken china just where he was
_'aténdmé. You are to be guided only by the evidence as to that,
:gentiaﬂn, but I refuae to so charge, because there was no evi-
dence that there was any china where Napolitano was standing,
or that he ever stood where the broken china was found,

MR. PAILMIRRI: I ask your Honor to charge the jury as
follows: That the information, or alleged information which
gchneider gave the pistrict Attorney has absolutely nothing
.to do w:'lf.h the crimes for which these defendants had been con=-

. viected. ‘

THE COURT: Why, that is their testimony. They teati_fiod

to that. The jury know what-the testimony is. I shall not ohnrge

them on the evidence; they know the evidence. I will charge any
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legal propo.ltﬁm that you wish to have charged. If the jurors

have any doubt about the evidence, they may have it read,

MR, PALMIRRI: I ask your Honor to charge the jury that,
if there is a reasonable doubt on the question as to who struck
the first blow, they must acquit the. defendants,

THE COURT: Why, I have said that repeatedly to the jury.

MR, PAINIRRI: All right, Judge. That's all.

THE COURT: Now, gentlemen of the Jury,‘if the defendants
are willing, you may take those exhibits with you, and, if they
are not willing, you cannmnot, but the defendants must state that
for thomeins, under the la:, and not through counsel. The
jury may not need them, but I wish to get their consent now,
because otherwise we might have to send for them, if the jury,
after they retire, should want them,

MR, PALMIRRI: The defendants consent for themselves, your
Honor,

'I'H'S COURT: Thé defendants having consented in opexi court
that the jury may take the exhibits to the jury room, they may

" have them if they desire? »

MR. PALMIRRI: Yes, sir,

~==0000000===



(The jury retired at 12:30 P.M.)

(The jury returned to the gourt Room at 1:05 P.M., rmu ":“‘.. .
the defendants guilty of assault in the third degree,)

WR. JOSRPH RAMO, Associate counsel for the defense, im the
absence of Mr. Palmieri, represented the defendants at the ren-
dition of t.hc verdict.,

(The glerk took the pedigreeé of the defendants, )

THE COURT: Now, if Mr, Palmieri were here, I think I ecould '
dispose of this case now, )

MR. RAMO: Mr. Palmieri requested me to ask your H'onor to
remand the defendants, and postpone sentence to another day. .

THR COURT: Well, I am aispoioa to suspend sentence in this
case, and if the defendants wish to waive the right to a remand
for forty-eight hours, I will Aiopono of the came now,

MR, RAMO: Tilen, as far as Napolitano is concerned, if
your Honor please, we will waive the remand, and we ar;o ready
for sentence now, |

THR COURT: Napolit ano has been sentenced to glmira peforma-.

tory under a plea oil’ guilty of Manslaughter in the first degree,
and, in view of that fact, I will uﬁnpend sentence on him in this
case. I think that is the proper course to take in regard to
him, in view of the sentence in the other ecase. If Maestry is
ready for sentence now, I am prepared to dispose of his un
also, and will suspend sentenee, . '

lk.- RAMO: He says he is ready for sentenece mow, your Honor.



We would like to have him disposed of at once.

THE COURT: You have a right to be remanded for sentence
for rorty--oight hours, if you wish it, |

MR, RAMO: No, sir; we are ready for sentence now,

THR COURT: Does Masstry also waive tlie remand for forty=-
eight hours, as Napolitano has done?

MR, mm He does, sir, and we are ready for sentence now.

THE COURT: Then I suspend sentence in Maestry's case also,
in view of the fact that he is awaiting sentence, under a plea
of guilty of manslaughter in the first degree, which was accept-
ed in another gourt,

Uﬁdor all the oiromiutmoon,- I fhink that this conviction
will meet the ends of justice, without Q;Q imposition of further
punishment than Napolitano has received, and Maestry is about to
receive, for the crimes of which they plcndoci guilty in another
Court, and, therefore, I suspend sentence om both of them,

~==0000000=~~
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